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Directors’ Report
EEEWHEE
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The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Company’s
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of cornstarch, lysine,
starch-based sweetener, modified starch and ancillary corn-based and corn-refined
products. Details of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in
note 15 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s revenue is derived from two business segments, namely (i) upstream
products and (i) fermented and downstream products, the production activities of
which are carried out in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

A fair review of the Group’s business during the year is set out in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 11 to 20. The Environmental and Sustainability
Report set out on pages 21 to 32 provides a review of the Group’s environmental
policies, compliance details and key relationships with the major stakeholders
(including its employees, customers and suppliers). The Risk Review Report set
out on pages 33 to 36 provides a comprehensive review of principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group.

The Group is committed to complying with all environmental policies and other
relevant laws and regulations related to its business operating environment. In
addition, the Group also has an internal laboratory to monitor the quality of our
products perpetually in order to ensure that our products comply with national
standards, including food safety standards.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in notes 25 and 32 to the audited consolidated financial statements.
The related party transactions as set out in notes 25 and 32 to the audited
consolidated financial statements constituted fully exempt connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

2 CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED PR ZEREREAE

EEMAREFFRRARBDREME LT (HiE
AREE)BE_S_=F+_A=+—HLLF
ENKEZEHMBRE-

FEXH

FRABHNEEXBRREER -AABDHMNER
BEFENERERPE T KRN  BRE KD
M BRI EARARBIERRERFRM I EmRe
EHARFAMBARNEEZEXBFBHNEEZL
SR BREAWNES

£ A
A B AU A SR B B EH DL B R ERR

(BEBRTHFER AAEBNEETBHNTE
ARHFE (TRE)) &7

ERAEEENEBNATOEHNEI1E20R
NEEENRADT BRERIFEERREH
RE2NE32E > SAEEBIRIZEER S RMAEH
RETERME (BFEHES BERREER B
FEMEETR - ARERERSHINE33E36
BomaEEMESNEERRRTAMERE
TERERE -

AEBAGRETHEXBEERIZEMNE IR
BER R HE AR AR R AR Ibdh BREREM
NERETERIEE (QIEBNZTEEE) A&
ERRBERNBERELNEE MG EEREE-

RERXRS

BREE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILFENK
EEFEARZHBUANRCEZEHMERERM
512532 B S HI B IMRMT25R32P &
HNEIER XA ERERHERZMERLAE (T
RFfr)) e85 EHRAI(TEMRAL) S14AZMRE
HEZE A RNRIERS



Directors’ Report
EEERES

DIVIDENDS

The Board is pleased to recommend the payment of a final dividend of HKO0.69 cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 14 June 2024. The proposed
final dividend, if approved at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(“AGM”), is expected to be paid on or about 17 July 2024 in cash.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tian Qixiang (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Shijun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Xianggang

Mr. Yu Yingquan

Independent non-executive Directors:
Professor Hua Qiang

Mr. Sun Mingdao

Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken

Mr. Tian Qixiang, Mr. Liu Xianggang and Professor Hua Qiang will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

None of the above Directors proposed for re-election has entered into any service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received from all of the independent non-executive Directors,
namely Professor Hua Qiang, Mr. Sun Mingdao and Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken, an annual
confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers that all of them are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT
OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a Director or his connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the
end of the financial year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to Article 201 of the articles of association (the “Articles”) of the Company,
the Directors and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified out of the
Company’s assets from and against all losses and liabilities which they may incur or
sustain in the execution of their duties, excluding any losses and liabilities that may
arise from fraud and dishonesty. The above indemnity provision was in force during
the course of the year and remained in force as of the date of this annual report. In
addition, the Company has maintained appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance for the purpose of indemnifying for losses in respect of relevant legal
actions against the Directors and other officers of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFQ”)) as recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(A) Long positions in shares of the Company

Nature of interest

EmitE

Name of Director

BEEis

Mr. Tian Qixiang
BEELE

Interest in a controlled corporation (note)

TEREERT ()
Note:
The interest in these shares was held by Merry Boom Group Limited (“Merry Boom”).

Merry Boom is owned as to approximately 54.58% by Mr. Tian Qixiang. Mr. Tian was
deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Merry Boom under the SFO.
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(B) Long positions in shares of the associated corporations

Name of associated

corporation Name of Director Nature of interest
TRk E B 1R EEgth EEtE
Merry Boom Mr. Tian Qixiang Beneficial owner
= AERLE BERBEAA
Mr. Gao Shijun Beneficial owner
BHELE BaEAA
Mr. Yu Yinggquan Beneficial owner
FHEREE BERBEEA
Shouguang Golden Corn Mr. Gao Shijun Beneficial owner
Biotechnology Limited* BEELE BHREAA

(“Golden Corn Biotech”)
SNEEREMRRERLAF

(M EREMBR) Mr. Yu Yingquan Beneficial owner
FHRRAE ERBEEA
Mr. Liu Xianggang Beneficial owner
ARBIKE ETEBA
Notes:
(1) Golden Corn Biotech was an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the

Company. The amount of paid-up share capital of Golden Corn Biotech
was RMB200,000,000. The number of shares was not specified in the

constitutional document.

2) Shouguang Chengyu Investment Co., Ltd* (“Chengyu”) was one of the
shareholders of Golden Corn Biotech. Mr. Gao Shijun held 1,500,000 shares in
Chengyu through Shouguang Junze Technology Service Co., Ltd.* (“Junze”).
The entire issued share capital of Junze was wholly and beneficially owned by

Mr. Gao Shijun.

3) Chengyu was one of the shareholders of Golden Corn Biotech. Mr. Yu
Yingquan held 460,000 shares in Chengyu through Shouguang Starsea
Trading Co., Ltd* (“Starsea”). The entire issued share capital of Starsea was

wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Yu Yingquan.

(4) Shouguang Shengyu Investment Co., Ltd* (“Shengyu”) was one of the
shareholders of Golden Corn Biotech. Mr. Liu Xianggang held 375,000 shares
in Shengyu through Shouguang Xiangyin Trading Co., Ltd (“Xiangyin”). The
entire issued share capital of Xiangyin was wholly and beneficially owned by

Mr. Liu Xianggang.

* English transliteration for identification only.

(B)

REBEERGOTE

Number of shares

PI5E

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Percentage of
interest in
associated
corporation

ROUE SEBZREZE DL

131 54.58%
60 25.00%
1 0.42%
- 0.75%
(notes 1,2)
(MzE1+2)
- 0.23%
(notes 1,3)
(FffzE13)
- 0.19%
(notes 1,4)
(MsE1~4)

ETEREMRER DR RAB B EIE
2EWB AR -2 EREYRED
EHR A AR200,000,0007T °
EEXHTILEEERNHEE -

SAREREROBERAS (TR
) AEEREMYRENREZ
— BUEBELEBBSNAEEN
ERBERAR (TEE)) KA
1,500,000/ & ERRIA « BIFH 2 A
BETRAHSESEAE2ETHE
WA

RERBEERENMHEPIRRZ
— o TRRAELEBBSNKERKE
HEARAE TERABI KA
460,000 R ERMR - ERAEHNE
BERTREIBTRRAEELEE
mHER

ENEERERMARAR (M2
EDAEEREDRBENIRERZ
— o B RMAEEBBEARINK
BEREALRA (TRM)) KA
375,000/ & E 1D c KENW 2B E
BIIRAHIRAEEETEERHE
ﬁo

TS HER 5



Directors’ Report
EEEREE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company nor their respective associates had any interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on
19 May 2017. The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

1. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to eligible persons as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the Group and to enable the Group to attract, recruit and retain senior
management, key employees and human resources that are valuable or
potentially valuable to the Group.

2. Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme are (a) any employee
(whether full-time or part-time including any executive director but excluding
any non-executive director) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any member of the Group holds an
equity interest; (b) any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity; (c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; (d) any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (e) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (f) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity
or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; (h) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of the Group.

6 CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED PR ZEREREAE

MRENFIIREEN RZB_=F+_B=+—
B EFRARBDEBTHRASHRES BB
ZALHMERARDREAEAEEEE (E&
BHRAFE G EXVED IR ~ ERR D REH
o ERRER S ARG R AIFE352(R AL E N A
AEFENECMANRERETIASTHNE
KRB R PR E R R S%A

Mg s EI

ERABRZE—tFEA B+ BRMN—IEERE
stE| (THERR ST RI) - RS 8IM T E R
o

1. BRESINENSEFAERATDGE
BALERHBRE ERRENREERR
TEE RAAY BB L 52 B » A sE AR EE @ BT IR
SIHEERGEsREEE - TEREER
HAEBEBEBEIEEEENANER

2. BRESINSERSEER [(FR
ENHEARMEARSAEBTARER
BIEERENTIAERE ((REEE)NE
FEE ERE2BRE > SFEFNT
B BFEEEAFRTES OFA
ENEARMEARSEAREBRNE
FIFRTES (BFEBIUFNTES (0
BAEBEEARERAHERNKREETE
REEMHRBOERIHER ()EER
FEARERAHAERNREBENEANE
FlemAaEBEAMREARREMEKEE
EEERMME R RE MR ENE
HALHERE HF-EBEETARELTHK
FRAREBRNERNRRNAEERTM
MERBREMREBRAETHEM
BENEAFAEN (QEEEEARER
BHEAKREBENE/NEBAETE
B ROVEMRER (FEHHEM) NEH
ASMEREMBERTEBBEE %
BEMAaNAMES LMY AEEHSH
ERIERELEMROSEE AR



Directors’ Report
EEERES

The maximum number of shares of the Company (the “Shares”) which may
be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme adopted by the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the
number of issued Shares from time to time. The total number of the Shares
which may be allotted and issued upon the exercise of all options (excluding,
for this purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group)
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued
Shares as at the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
the exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each grantee in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the issued Share for the time being (“Individual Limit”). Any
further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant must be separately
approved by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting with such
grantee and his associates abstaining from voting.

Any grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their respective
associates must be approved by independent non-executive directors of the
Company (excluding independent non-executive director of the Company
who or whose associates is the proposed grantee of the options). In addition,
any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company or any of their respective associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the issued Shares at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of the grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval of the Company in a general meeting.

The vesting period of the share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme is determined by the directors of the Company, which period may
commence from the date of the offer for the grant of options is made, but
shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the date of the offer for the
grant of the option or the expiry date of the Share Option Scheme, whichever
is earlier, subject to the provisions for early termination as stated in the Share
Option Scheme.

The acceptance of an offer of the grant of the option must be made within
28 days from the date of the offer for the grant with a non-refundable
payment of HK$1.00 from the grantee.
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8. The exercise price of the share option is determined by the Board but shall

not be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (b) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (c) the nominal value of the Shares.

9. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective till 18 May 2027.

The Company has not granted any share options under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS

The interests of substantial shareholders in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2023, as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO, are set out in the table below:

Name Capacity

%8 515

Merry Boom Beneficial owner (note)
=l BaEs A (D)
Note:

These shares were held by Merry Boom. Merry Boom is owned as to approximately 54.58% by
Mr. Tian Qixiang, an executive Director and Chairman of the Company. Mr. Tian is deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Merry Boom under the SFO as disclosed under the paragraph
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, there were no any other persons
(other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were
required to be recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 336
of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed above, at no time during the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement which
enables the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company repurchased 25,565,000
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$3,375,000. All of the shares repurchased by the Company were
cancelled prior to 31 December 2023 and the total number of shares of the Company
in issue has been reduced accordingly. Details of the shares repurchased are set out
as follows:

BE HEHBEIXABN EHES

REEZZZ=F+"A=+—HIEFE xR
EF?”W@%$@T%5%O%kkﬁ’\ﬁ
1B# 73,375,000 o A AB LRI ERMHE
RIZZ=F+ZRA=+—HaFH A27E
BITRM B H R L - BIERMD N IEHS
mE

Number Aggregate
of shares Price paid per share price paid
2023 —E=-= K& E SREMER AHEM
Highest Lowest
BEE RBIEE
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
T AT FHET
August AR 700,000 0.145 0.142 101
September hA 1,500,000 0.135 0.131 201
October +A 6,785,000 0.130 0.128 875
November +—A 8,570,000 0.139 0.130 1,148
December +—A 8,010,000 0.134 0.127 1,050
25,565,000 3,375
The Directors considered that the repurchases could lead to an enhancement of EER%A EHEMIREARRFINERUE B EX

the Company’s earnings per share. Save as disclosed above, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2023 was there any purchase, sale or redemption by the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of the
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to its existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than
30% of the Group’s turnover and purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the total purchases of the Group.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient public float
of not less than 25% of the Company’s total issued shares as required under the

Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board

Tian Qixiang
Chairman
Shouguang, The People’s Republic of China

20 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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INDUSTRY REVIEW AND COMPANY DEVELOPMENT
Overview

The business environment in 2023 was worlds apart as compared with 2022. Many
cornstarch and lysine manufacturers resumed their operations robustly in 2023 and
boosted the supply of various products rising like a rocket. However, the market
demand for various products increased at paces substantially lower than the increase
in the market supply. These resulted in a serious problem of oversupply within a
very short period of time and caused market prices for finished goods to fall like a
stick. The decrease in market price and the lack of market demand gradually eased
in the second half of 2023. Certain cornstarch and lysine manufacturers temporarily
suspended their operations under the critical market conditions. On the other hand,
the market demand for corn derived products and lysine recovered slightly.

Under this new market environment, most small-scale and less efficient market
players could not return to this battlefield in the corn deep-processing industry.
The management expected that the market will consolidate the existing production
capacity and bring a new equilibrium demand and supply in the coming year.

Business Development

Although there were many adverse factors in the market during the year under
review, the Group has not reduced its commitment to the business development in
this industry. The Group will deploy resources on the reduction of production cost by
upgrading existing equipment and using more energy-saving machineries.

The annual production capacity of lysine products had increased to 500,000 tonnes
by the end of 2023. This enlarged scale of production facilities could effectively
reduce our unit cost and allow us to offer our products at more favourable prices in
this highly competitive economic environment, and in the meantime, maintain our
market shares without compromising our margin level.
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The table below set out the annual production capacity of the Group of each of our
major products at the end of 2023:

Products Ef
Cornstarch KB
Lysine B
Starch-based sweetener (Crystallised) B E (G
Modified starch SR
D-lactic acid D-#LEE

In addition, the construction of lactide and polylactide trial production lines, which
was not included in the table above, was completed by the end of 2023. The trial
production lines will be used for the new product development and market research
according to the research schedule and/or the prevailing market conditions of these
related products.

Our other project under Shouguang Juneng Musashino Biotechnology Co., Ltd.
in relation to the development of lactate production facilities with our joint venture
partner was still in progress. We still work closely with the local government on the
selection of an appropriate production site. Further announcement(s) will be made
as and when appropriate in compliance with the applicable requirements under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Upstream Products

During the year under review, the Group was challenged by the problem of oversupply
in the domestic market and the indirect competition with other replaceable products.
The average market prices for agriculture commodities, including soybean, wheat and
corn, in 2023 was lower than that of 2022, which reflected the sluggish economy
around the globe. This trend drove down the market prices of finished goods which
were derived from soybean, wheat and other grains. The end-users might shift
their demand from corn-derived products to other replaceable materials taking into
consideration of the price fluctuations.

Upstream products segment was our major business segment, which contributed
approximately 72.9% of our turnover for the year. As a result, our business
performance was affected during the year under review.

]2  CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED BB ERARAT

TREIIN T _=FRFAEEETEEANSE
EBE

Tonnes M

2,700,000
500,000
150,000
100,000

20,000

IS RIIA ERBARBERBABRNOAERE
RERZE_=FRETH -FAELGRBREMARE
Exk/NZEHEMEREFNT R BRTES
FERTHMAR-

BRARCEBHESAEERETEYRKRAR
AENS—EHENEETT ZBEFHREIA
iRt ERE -RMADNUEESEN EEMEE
EMHAETEF - ARABARRESEHERS
FRERARRZS LHRABERERE BT
E—H NG

EFMEE
LiESR

7 [0 R4 R Py » 7 6 0 0 B P9 75 253 4638 78 SR B
MEUREEMIERESNEERT -
“CERES (BEAT NEREK NFELT
SBEMRE T T T BRI KRB G2

RER B HBERAT N EREMRYUR
SHTIBER TR WX S ERRDNEE K
IR BB ERU KT E QWAL
ko

EHEROBRRMANIZEZ DL HEEE
HEFAT2.9% At > MAINEBRFNEBRFE

ESEEA
ZEFE



Management Discussion and Analysis
EEE RN

Fermented and Downstream Products

In 2022, the Group benefited from the strong demand in fermented and downstream
products, which resulted from the expansion of the pig-farming production capacity
after the end of African Swine Fever pandemic previously. However, this situation in
2023 turned around, in which the oversupply in pork led to a significant reduction
in their market prices and in turn, affected the number of pigs in the pig-farming
industry. Two of our major products, lysine and corn gluten meal (upstream products),
were substantially affected under this market condition as they are the raw materials
for the production of animal feeds.

During the year under review, the business performance of lysine was affected by the
poor market atmosphere in the pig-farming industry. Our operation was affected in
the first half of the year as our production capacity has not been fully utilised due to
the reduced demand of animal feeds, but such situation has gradually recovered in
the second half of the year.

The business performance of starch-based sweetener was affected by the problem
of oversupply and weakened domestic food and beverage demand. The sales team
tried to reach out to and solicit new customers outside the traditional food and
beverage industry as starch-based sweetener could also be used in other industries,
such as battery manufacturing.

Modified starch was still affected by the city sewage control policy during the year
under review. However, the improvement in our production knowhow and the
promotion of use of liquid modified starch mitigated such adverse factor. In addition,
the Group also engaged external professional sewage treatment companies to
solve the residue liquid during the modified starch dehydration process. During the
year under review, the Group recorded a substantial growth in the sales volume of
modified starch.

New biobased material was affected by the domestic market condition. The business
performance of new biobased material was lower than the initial expectations of the
management for the first half of 2023, but gradually recovered in the second half of
the year.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Overview

During the year under review, total revenue of the Group reduced slightly by 1.3% to
approximately RMB11,797,534,000 (2022: RMB11,948,852,000). Gross profit of the
Group decreased significantly by 53.2% to approximately RMB556,572,000 (2022:
RMB1,190,475,000).

Profit after taxation decreased significantly to RMB157,396,000 (2022:
RMB495,432,000). Basic earnings per share of the Company was RMB0.0180
per share based on the weighted average number of 5,990,605,000 ordinary
shares (2022: RMBO0.0587 per share based on the weighted average number of
5,994,132,000 ordinary shares).
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Segment Performance

Upstream products

Revenue WA
Gross profit E=F
Gross profit margin EF=H

DEPRIR
L

2023 2022

—EZ=F B &

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F AREF T

8,596,863 8,705,998

129,951 441,715

1.5% 5.1%

Revenue of upstream products decreased slightly by 1.3% to RMB8,596,863,000
(2022: RMB8,705,998,000). The gross profit margin of this business segment
decreased by 3.6 percentage point to 1.5%. The upstream product segment
contributed most of our revenue and gross profits to the Group. During the year
under review, the average selling price of cornstarch decreased by 2% to RMB2,816
(2022: RMB2,872) per tonne. The sales volume of cornstarch was approximately
2,007,204 tonnes (2022: 1,953,563 tonnes).

THESHBAKBY THRI.EARE
8,596,863, 000 (ZZEZZF : AR
8,705,998,0007T) ° AR EH 7 EHIEH = 13.6
BEDBEE15% LHERDBALERBTHA
HAWARERN - REIBEFER > FXRBRMBFY
EEBTE2%EEMARK281670 (T2 2F !
AR152,8727T) o KB HIEH 24 72,007,2041F
(T4 :1,953,5630) °

Fermented and downstream products BEE T HESD
2023 2022
—E=F -2
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBFT
Revenue A
- Lysine —fBaft 2,261,792 2,424,684
— Starch-based sweetener — B E 472,198 541,364
— Modified starch — SR 351,583 196,006
— Others —HAth 115,098 80,800
Total 4B 3,200,671 3,242,854
Gross profit EF 426,621 748,760
Gross profit margin EF=E 13.3% 23.1%

Revenue of fermented and downstream products decreased to RMB3,200,671,000
(2022: RMBS,242,854,000).
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Revenue of lysine decreased from approximately RMB2,424,684,000 to
RMB2,261,792,000. The overall sales volume of lysine products was about 340,746
tonnes (2022: 314,179 tonnes). The sales volume of lysine products increased by
8.5% as a result of an increase in production capacity of lysine production facilities
from 300,000 tonnes to 500,000 tonnes during the year under review. The average
selling price of lysine products was about RMB6,638 (2022: RMB7,718) per tonne.

Revenue of starch-based sweetener was approximately RMB472,198,000 (2022:
RMB541,364,000). The market price of starch-based sweetener was highly affected
by the price of cane sugar. The average selling price of starch-based sweetener
increased substantially by 15.5% to RMB2,629 (2022: RMB2,277) per tonne because
the price of cane sugar recorded a substantial increase during the year under review.
The sales volume of starch-based sweetener decreased by 24.4% to 179,598 tonnes
(2022: 237,718 tonnes).

Revenue of modified starch was RMB351,583,000 (2022: RMB196,006,000). The
increase in revenue of modified starch was mainly attributable to the successful
development of liquid-modified starch market and the solution of the dehydration-
sewage problem during the year under review.

Revenue of other fermented products increased substantially by 42.4% to
approximately RMB115,098,000 (2022: RMB80,800,000). The substantial increase in
revenue from biobased material was mainly attributable to the full year effect after the
trial-run in 2022.

Cost of sales and gross profit

During the year under review, the total cost of sales increased to
RMB11,240,962,000 (2022: RMB10,758,377,000). The average corn kernel cost
of the Group for the year 2023 was stable as compared with the last year (2023:
RMB2,543 per tonne and 2022: RMB2,550 per tonne). The second largest cost of
sales was utilities. The average prices of electricity and steam was also stable in the
past two years.

As the market prices for certain finished goods, such as cornstarch, corn gluten meal,
corn germs, lysine and modified starch in 2023 were lower than that in 2022, the
gross profit of the Group decreased to RMB556,572,000 (2022: RMB1,190,475,000).

The Group did not enter into any forward/futures contract to hedge the price
fluctuation of corn kernel during the year under review. The Group makes purchases
from the spot market in accordance with its production schedule.
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Review of other Operations
Distribution and administrative expenses

Distribution expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 decreased to
RMB157,175,000 (2022: RMB171,044,000). The decrease in distribution expenses
was mainly attributable to a decrease in delivery expenses which was partly offset by
an increase in the packaging costs as a result of using more durable and protective
package materials.

Distribution expenses for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 mainly
comprised of the following:

Hith'&E OB

DHERITHEHF

BE_ZE_-H+_HA=+—HIEEENDHE
ARV EARM157,175,00070 (ZE - _F : A
E1171,044,0007T) c EHE AR B EEZHR
G BRI HAGEARMNARBIRERNEE
LS 5 61 55 oY A 18 R P 3B 3 4 8K o

BE_ TR T-__F+_-_RB=+—HIL
FENNHERFTEQRFE TISE:

2023 2022

—ECI=F BT F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARBFT

Delivery and logistics AT R 125,177 141,651
Marketing expenses MIGHEERS 15,570 14,989
Staff costs BT 8,388 8,335
Others Hih 8,040 6,069
157,175 171,044

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 decreased to
RMB194,551,000 (2022: RMB207,835,000). The decrease was mainly attributable to
a decrease in staff costs, government levies, and repairing expenses. Administrative
expenses for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 mainly comprised of the
following:

HE_E_—F+_A=t+—HLEFENTHRE
AR EARKE194,551,0000 (T2 -4 A
FE#207,835,0007t) sz LA EBEHRE T
T BNHEREEERRL BE_S =K
I THF+A=t+—HULEFENTHRERE
ZEFETHEIE !

2023 2022

—ZEZ=HF S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AREFT
Staff costs BT A 104,833 108,655
Depreciation and amortisation expenses TE R EHEE R 35,658 32,147
Government levies BN EE 26,939 31,094
Others Hih 27,121 35,939
194,551 207,835

]6  CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED HERIIZERERAS



Management Discussion and Analysis
EREERE S

Research expenses

Research expenses mainly consisted of material costs and depreciation and
amortisation costs. During the year under review, our research expenses decreased
substantially from RMB324,108,000 to RMB160,490,000. The decrease was mainly
attributed to the reduced number of research projects. In addition, the level of
expenses was also affected by the progression status and the complexity of each
project. The management would allocate appropriate resources on the research and
development activities and maintain our competitive edges in respect of our knowhow
and advanced products.

Other net income
The other net income decreased to RMB113,114,000 (2022: RMB119,838,000). The

major items of other net income for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
are set out below:

HEERH

BT & = Z G5 FT A AR R A DA R 3T B R 8
A REEFER REBRNAEEROAARKE
324,108,000 7t A @i/ = AR 1160,490,0007T ©
ZRLOThEERRMAREEH =R L o o ER
BETZISEENERREREERE B
EBRORBEERANRMEEEHLAAERFRMER
MkfEERDENRFES

HM:FRA

HMFWARLEAREK113,114,0007T (ZF

4 AR¥119,838,0007T) cBE_T =
—To_F+ZAS+—BLFE 2K

ANEZEBEEHIWMT :
2023 2022
—E= -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBEF T
Amortisation of government grants BT 4 Bh B 8 8 80,371 81,766
Gain on sales of scrap materials THERER 2 W 20,506 21,841
Net foreign exchange gain P& R Uz /B KB 7,532 1,538
Sewage treatment TSIk ERIE 1,993 2,875
Gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEMX BB REZHEHW R 1,644 9,403
Government grants (one-off) BT #EEN (—2 ) 534 1,185
Gain on futures contracts HEaHNRE 12 601
Written off of property, plant and equipment WA 2 R B e R (3,300) (208)
Others HAth 3,822 837
113,114 119,838
HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES ANEBE R EHBEBER

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had about 2,267 full time staff (2022: 2,364)
in the PRC and Hong Kong. Total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments, of
the Group were approximately RMB267,121,000 (2022: RMB266,179,000). The
Group considers the experience, responsibility, and performance of the Directors and
employees of the Group when determining their respective remuneration packages.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) to
enable the Group to grant options to eligible persons as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group as well as to attract, recruit and retain senior management,
key employees and human resources that are valuable or potentially valuable to the
Group.
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In addition, a remuneration committee is delegated by the Board to review and
determine the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation
payable to the Directors and senior management.

As at 31 December 2023, no share options have been granted under the Share
Option Scheme.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash management and investment on
uncommitted funds. The primary purpose of our financial management and treasury
policy is to ensure possessing of sufficient cash and available banking facilities to
meet its commitment on one hand and to obtain better return on the other hand. Any
unused fund is not only placed on short-term/fixed deposits with authorised financial
institutions in Hong Kong and/or the PRC, but also short-term capital-and-reward
guaranteed financial instruments.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Directors do not consider the exposure to foreign exchange risk being significant
to the Group’s operation as the Group operated mainly in the PRC and most of the
Group’s transactions, assets and liabilities were denominated in Renminbi. Foreign
currencies were however received from export sales. Such proceeds were subject
to foreign exchange risk before converting into Renminbi. The foreign currencies
received from export sales were converted into Renminbi upon receipt from overseas
customers. The Group manages foreign exchange risk by monitoring the exchange
rates closely instead of entering into any foreign exchange hedging arrangement.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The key financial performance indicators of the Group for the two years ended 31
December are set out below:

NRBEE -MBERRERRE

AEEHE+ B =+— B 1WA E AR R
BERBISERIIMT

Units 2023 2022
Bl —E=-= TR F
Debtors turnover FEW AR B & days % 12 11
Creditors turnover RS EIRFVE S days % 5 7
Inventories turnover FEBE®E days X 26 25
Current ratio TRB)LEE times & 2.3 2.8
Quick ratio RB)LEE times & 1.6 1.9
Gearing ratio (note 1) EAREEE (FEE1) % 10.5 5.6
Total shareholder return (note 2) RO (fizE2) % -36.5 9.4
Notes: 5T
1) Gearing ratio is calculated as the borrowings to total assets. (1) TR IR AR U BB ESTE -
) Total shareholder return combines share price appreciation and dividends paid to show  (2) RERCIREQEREABREMERE XU

the total return to shareholders.

The Directors are of the opinion that the working capital available to the Group is
sufficient for its present requirements. As at 31 December 2023, all borrowings
of the Group are short-term borrowings. The aggregated bank borrowings of
approximately RMB518,585,000 were denominated in Renminbi and carried interest
at fixed rates. In addition, the loan from a controlling shareholder of the Company of
RMB40,780,000 was denominated in Hong Kong dollars and was carrying interest
at a floating rate. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents were mostly denominated
in Renminbi. The increase in borrowings was mainly attributable to an increase in
the working capital requirement. As at 31 December 2023, most of cash and cash
equivalents are denominated in Renminbi.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not pledge any leasehold land and building
to secure banking facilities. As at 31 December 2023, the Group provided a deposit
of RMB500,000,000 and bank acceptance bills of RMB18,585,000 for securing
banking facilities and bills payables respectively.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders amounted to approximately RMB125,739,000.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board intends to create long term value for the shareholders of the Company
through maintaining a balance between dividend distribution, adequate cash flow and
reserve to meet its working capital requirement and capturing growth opportunities.
The Board may propose or declare the payment of dividends after taking into account
the current financial performance, the future financial requirements and any other
factors that may deem relevant to the Company. The Board may decide the frequency
of dividend payment and further declare or recommend any special distributions.
Dividends may be declared or paid by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the
Board considers appropriate. The payment of dividend is also subject to compliance
with applicable laws and regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands and
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association. The Board will review this
dividend policy from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividend will be
paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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Environmental and Sustainability Report

IRIE R PSR RS

Basis of preparation

The preparation of this report was conducted mainly with reference to the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” set out in Appendix C2
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. We aimed to provide a balanced and comprehensive review of the
environmental and social performance of different areas in our Group with our major
stakeholders in this report. We used priority issue analysis to identify and focus on the
primary needs and issues faced by our stakeholder groups.

This report covered the overall environmental and social performance of all major
subsidiaries of the Group, which are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023, which engage in
the manufacturing and sales activities of cornstarch and other related products in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Disclaimer statement

The performance data set out in this report are not independently audited or verified.
The management endeavours to present complete and meaningful information to
the user of such data, however, we cannot assure the accuracy or completeness
of data in which we collected. The accuracy of the data we produced in this report
may be affected by, inter alia, unit conversion factors, material/quality tolerance, and
difference in material used and method of production. Therefore, we accept no liability
for the accuracy of the information if users of such data suffer any losses or damage.

Board statement

We recognise our corporate social responsibility to society. Consequently, the
Board oversees ESG-related issues as well as the overall environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) management approach.

The Board believes that the Group’s sustainability is highly dependent on the
relationship with its stakeholders. Besides creating value for shareholders of the
Company, we also create value for our stakeholders beyond monetary terms. We
are committed to incorporating ESG mindsets into business operations by balancing
financial performance with how we do business, how we treat our people, how we
live the values in our business relationships and how we care for the environment on
which we rely.
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What we believe

Cornstarch is one of the most versatile and easily workable resources which also
has a wide range of applications in various industries. From the perspective of corn
supply, the promotion of using cornstarch would support the development of local
and village economies by wise-using agricultural lands. From the perspective of
demand of corn kernel, cornstarch is one of the most commonly used components
of tens of thousands of manufactured products nowadays. Its existence can be found
in different formats, such as in the clothing we wear, the food and beverage served in
the restaurant, and as far as oil exploration. Thus, we maintain a positive outlook on
our business in the long run.

With our strong platform, we are positioned to capture the benefits of an increasing
market share and are well prepared for further sustainable growth. Even though
we are facing the current tough and uncertain global and domestic environment,
our objective remains unchanged, which is to be in a leading position in the corn-
refinery industry in the PRC. To achieve this goal, the Directors and the Company’s
executive management teams are engaged in expanding our Group in various
aspects, including our production capacity of cornstarch and lysine products, our
product pipeline, our marketing force and our market coverage. The Company is also
committed to enhancing our research and development capability.
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Reporting principles
We applied the following principles in the preparation of this report:
Materiality

We identify and assess ESG issues by considering key factors that affect the
operations and continuity of our business from the perspectives of our stakeholders.
We have seven major stakeholder groups which are set out in the section headed
“Our Methodology to this Report” below in this report.

Quantitative

Where applicable, we provided information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of conversion factors used, for
the reporting of emissions/energy consumption disclosed in the respective sections in
this report.

Consistency

We applied consistent methodologies to allow for meaningful comparisons of ESG
data over time.

Our Methodology for this Report

The management team is delegated by the Board to identify, evaluate, prioritise,
manage and mitigate material ESG-related issues that might adversely affect our
business. The Board will discuss and review the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities,
performance, progress, goals and targets regularly with the assistance of the
management team, with reference to the applicable environmental-related targets set
by the local governments and compare our outcomes with these targets.

We conducted a stakeholder review every year to ensure that we can address
material issues related to the Group.

We have seven major stakeholder groups which can participate in or affect our
decision-making process and influence our business outcomes.
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Talents

We recognise that the health and safety of our people come first as they
are key to our long-term success. This is core to us and every aspect of
our business. We believe the achievement of positive workplace relations
is mutually beneficial to the Group and our employees as workplace
efficiency is achieved when labour relationships allow for a culture of
continuous improvement and acceptance of change. Thus, we encourage
communication at all levels. Apart from regular meetings with the
representative of the Group’s labour union, we also obtain opinions from
and provide feedback within our workgroups in order to ensure continual
improvement for the work environment and other staff related matters. To
understand, manage and, where possible, minimise occupational injuries or
illnesses in our business is equally important. We have appropriate controls in
place and provide our people with appropriate training to ensure compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations in relation to employees’ health and
safety. On-the-job training related to individual development is also provided
to our people to enhance skills and capabilities for discharging duties at work.
The purpose of this arrangement lets our staff get familiar with all accidental
situations and minimise the risk of accidents.

Major topics include fire prevention and fire drill, hazardous chemical leaking
drill, electrician, welder and boiler worker safety training, lightning prevention,
dust explosion prevention. We will also update our safety handbook on a
regular basis and provide body check for selected staff with high risk of
occupational disease. Our training and drills are mandatory and their results
will become a part of the staff appraisal record.

During the year under review, the Group recorded two motorcycle accidents
before and after work outside the production plant in Linging, one of which
caused death of one of our staff. According to the police investigations in the
PRC, both accidents were caused by the outside drivers. Although these two
accidents were caused by the third parties outside our production plant and
were not work-related, these were still recognised as occupational injuries
pursuant to the PRC Work-related Injury Insurance Regulations.
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We strive to cultivate sustainable employment practices and labour standards
by strictly complying with the PRC Labour Law, the PRC Labour Contract
Law and other applicable PRC employment regulations throughout our
production processes, and by promoting fair and equal treatment in all areas
of human resources, including recruitment and promotion, compensation
and dismissal, working hours, diversity, rest periods, equal opportunity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare. We usually recruit staff
in colleges to ensure the candidates have sufficient working capability. In
addition, we also check candidates’ identification documents to avoid hiring
child labour. It is our policy to avoid child labour and forced labour in any
of our operations. We believe that the Group can uphold human rights and
prevent child labour and forced labour by strictly complying with the above
laws and regulations and internal policy.

In adherence with high standards of business ethics and anti-bribery policies,
all employees (including the Directors) are required to abide by our ethics
policy. Our employees are prohibited from conducting themselves in any
way which involves any illegal behaviours by taking advantage or abusing
their positions, including but not limited to bribery, fraud, extortion, money
laundering and illegally obtaining or accepting benefits from others. In
addition, a whistleblowing policy has been implemented to provide a secured
reporting channel for employees and stakeholders including, among others,
customers and suppliers to report any suspected misconduct or malpractice
involving the Group.

Our Directors are reminded to avoid making decisions and abstain from
voting if they are aware of potential conflicts of interest in any meetings.
Our staff handbook also included anti-corruption clauses to enhance staff’s
awareness of handling conflict of interest situations. We set the tone at the
top and implement these rules at all levels in the Group. Our in-house training
is mandatory and applicable to all staff without distinction by gender. During
the year under review, we provided training of various topics to all our staff in
accordance with their work levels, job nature and duties.

During the year under review, there had been no incidences of non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group regarding, among others, safe working environment,
occupational hazards, employment and labour practices, bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering, preventing child and forced labour and anti-
corruption and no legal proceedings or cases regarding corrupt practices had
been instituted by or brought against the Group and/or its employees.
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CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

the Group voluntarily. Given that the employment information presented above
is related to the major subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC, the staff turnover
ratio for different geographical region is not applicable.

Fatality is the death of an employee as a result of an occupational injury
incident in the course of employment.
The rates are the number of incidents within a financial year relative to the total

number of hours worked in the same financial year. The rates are normalised
to 1,000,000 worked hours.

LTl is an occupational injury sustained by an employee for which the employee
misses one or more scheduled workdays after the day of injury.

The average number of training hours per employee is calculated as the total
internal training hours to different employee categories.

RENBRMIERAIRAR

The following table summarised the employment information of the major
PRC subsidiaries of the Group for the past three consecutive years.
2023
Number of employees BEAH 2,263
By gender IR D48
All grades Fr A& 4R 5
— Male —B% 1,908
— Female —4 355
Supervisory level FER
— Male —B% 56
— Female —4 1
Managerial level IR
— Male —B% 7
— Female —4 1
By age group B ERR AR D58
— Under 30 —30m U T 512
-30to 50 —305% £505% 1,639
— Above 50 —50 U & 112
By employment type ZEEBR DB
— Permanent —&H 2,263
— Temporary — BB -
Staff turnover ratio® BT mkER:
All grades Fr B 4R 5l
- Male — 5% 4.7%
- Female -4 1.2%
By age group BRERAER D EE
— Under 30 =30 U T 0.6%
- 30 to 50 —305% £505% 4.4%
— Above 50 —50m U 0.9%
Number of fatalities® FETEWEH 1
Rate of fatality® FETEH 0.2%
Lost time injury (“LTI")¢ BERIFITE (HBLRIRIEG) 2
Rate of LTI° BRIFRT e 0.4%
Training hours® (per month) =i (BR)
— General ——f& 14.6
— Middle-level — R 19.9
— Senior — Sk 28.0
a Staff turnover represents the employees (permanent and temporary) leaving

TERELFERETEZTENBARB
FoEEEFENERBEL -

2022 2021
=== B —F
2,360 2,323
1,983 1,932
377 391
57 56
1 1

.
1 1
565 787
1,693 1,465
102 71
2,359 2,281
1 42
5.8% 6.7%
0.6% 0.7%
4.3% 4.6%
1.8% 2.6%
0.3% 0.2%
1 6
0.2% 1.3%
12.2 11.4
18.2 16.6
18.2 21.4
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Suppliers

We have developed trust with our suppliers. We, as a leading cornstarch
manufacturer, play an important role in the procurement of corn kernel in
Shouguang and Linging districts, which are located in Shandong province.
During the year under review, we had not less than 3,300 corn kernel
suppliers and all of them are located in the PRC. Our suppliers mainly consist
of farmers, cooperatives, agents and traders in the PRC. We provide our
corn kernel offer price to our suppliers by using mobile technology. While our
procurement is carried out on a 24/7 basis, we propose corn kernel offer
prices to our suppliers through mobile technology to increase efficiency. We
believe that our suppliers will deliver the best corn kernel to us at their first
priority because our offer prices are transparent and we show commitment to
purchase at our initial offer prices.

Our second largest material supplier group is the suppliers of chemical
materials and consumables. We had not less than 500 of these suppliers
during the year under review and they are also located in the PRC. In order to
have a fair, transparent and competitive environment, it is our policy to publish
our tender invitation on the Company’s website. Offer price given by tenderers
is not the only crucial factor considered by us. Historical compliance
records, such as labour practices, business ethics and environmental
protection policies, will also be considered during the selection process. We
have a similar procedure for the selection of construction and equipment
contractors.

The Group also has a quality assurance policy for all our suppliers. We
conduct supplier audits and on-site inspections to (i) ensure that the
materials used by our suppliers complied with the contract specifications
(and in particular, specifications on environmentally preferable products,
where applicable); and (i) review any potential risk or issue on environment
and labour practice. If the performance of work is carried in our site, the
contractor is also required to follow our factory safety regulations.

It is our target to maintain an open and fair business environment for our
partners. We are committed to maintaining highest standards of openness,
probity and accountability. Not only do we have a whistle-blowing policy
which allows the report of any misconduct, but we also have anti-bribery
provision in our procurement agreements stating the consequence of the
breach of the Group’s anti-corruption policy. Such policies are supervised and
managed by members of the Board to ensure their efficient implementation.
During the year under review, the Group did not receive any reports in respect
of staff or supplier corruption.
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Customers

Product safety is a great issue as we produce base raw materials for our
customers. Our products can be reproduced for animal feeds or other
products for human consumption. The maintenance of high product quality is
the only key to customers’ loyalty. Our quality assurance programme ensures
that our product standards can be identified precisely in accordance with
the Chinese national standards issued by The Standardization Administration
of the PRC. Each quality report and product recall request, if any, from our
customers will be investigated and examined seriously by our designated
quality control team to determine appropriate follow-up actions. In many
cases, product quality was affected during delivery or the production method
in the customer’s production facilities. During the year under review, the
Group did not receive any substantiated and material complaints on its
products that the Group had to recall and treat the whole batch of products
as scrap material for safety and health reasons. In addition, we also work
closely with our customers to develop our order book and provide the
required products at the right time.

During the year under review, there had been no incidences of non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group regarding health and safety, marketing and labelling.

Governments

One of our major stakeholders is government authorities. The Group shows
its commitment to improve production efficiency by using modernised
production facilities and deploying resources in the development of
production knowhow. The payback of these investments would not be within
a short time. To ensure that the development direction is on the right way with
long-term government support, we maintain good working relationships with
the municipal governments. We expect that our continuous commitments
and support to the government authorities would assist them in better
understanding and responding to our industry needs.

Business Strategic Partners

It is the Group’s vision to become a leading market player in the corn-
refinery industry in the PRC. Our business strategies are formulated on
this basis. Now, we are gradually moving towards cornstarch-derivative
markets representing high value-added products and higher barriers of entry.
We welcome cooperation with other leading market players and develop
businesses with them.

To ensure long-term success, we carry out market assessment analysis on
potential products cautiously. It is important to select a suitable business
partner who should have a high reputation in the industry and a proven
successful business record.
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Shareholders

One of the major stakeholders of the Company is our shareholders. We share
our business objective with and create value for our shareholders. Our long-
term corporate strategy is to maximise total shareholder return. The Board
undertakes the management responsibility on behalf of our shareholders.
During our decision-making process, we strive to strike a balance among
various factors, including without limitation, maintaining a healthy balance
sheet, choosing sustainable development projects, and determining the
optimal financial requirements of the Group.

The Board established a shareholders’ communication policy setting out the
principles of the Company in relation to shareholders’” communications, with
the objective of ensuring the availability of balanced and understandable
information and each of the shareholders is treated equally. We encourage
shareholders and potential investors to read the Company’s corporate
communication policy, which is available on the Company’s website.

Environment

Environmental Policies

The Group understands that our business has an impact on the environment
and we recognise the importance of sound environmental management
practices and sustainable business operations. We are committed to meeting
all environmental standards and policies as set by the PRC government.

Throughout the year under review, there were no material incidences of non-
compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations nor were
there climate-related issues that have a significant impact on the Group. Our
environmental strategy is to achieve a balance between cost of production on
one hand, and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions and sewage disposal on
the other hand. Our business is both energy and water intensive, the Group
has its own facilities to reduce GHG emissions and treat sewage before
disposal to city sewage network. A perpetual monitoring system on sewage
disposal is reported to the local environmental protection bureau and open to
public inspection. In order to protect our environment and reduce the cost of
production, we use methane generated from sewage treatment to produce
steam for internal use.
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We currently do not set any target for the reduction of emission of non-
hazardous waste. It is because these factors are easily affected by the
product mix and the method of production. For example, the energy
consumption ratio for liquid sweetener and crystallised sweetener are
materially different. We perpetually adjust our production plan to satisfy our
customers’ orders on one hand and maximise the efficiency of utilities and
other resources consumption ratio on the other hand, having regard to the
importance of sound environmental management practices and sustainable
business operations.

During the year under review, the Group did not produce any hazardous
waste in our production plants. In addition, most of our non-hazardous
wastes are collected and sold to third parties for other uses.

Use of Resources

Other than corn kernel, electricity and steam are the other two major
elements during production. The electricity we used is mainly generated
from coal in Shandong province. Although the Group does not have any
option to choose the source for the production of energy, we spend much
effort to improve production efficiency and, in return, we can reduce the
GHG intensity indirectly. For example, the management team reviews the
energy consumption rate and sets a new target at the beginning of every
financial year. The management team monitors the status of achieving such
targets regularly and, apart from cost-efficiency, energy-efficiency would also
be taken into account by our management team when making production-
related decisions. Water is a vital resource for our planet. It is used to grow
crops, feed animals and people, generate electricity and steam, and produce
our products. We extract underground water during production and use our
own reclaimed water treatment facilities to minimise over-reliance on using
underground water and its impact on the environment. We are committed to
using water responsibly. While we do not set specific water reduction targets,
it is the general strategy and direction of our Group to reduce the overall
resource consumption during our production process, all while maintaining
our production level and efficiency. This is expected to be achieved through
continuous review and evaluation of our ESG performance, business strategy
and sustainability goals.
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Packaging Materials

The usage of packaging material would change in accordance with the
customer’s packaging requirements. We encourage our customers to use
reusable packaging material. During 2023, packaging material used for
finished goods was about 10,902 tonnes (2022: 10,240 tonnes). Among
which, newly purchased reusable packaging material was about 8,279 tonnes
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 7,515 tonnes). The overall
usage volume of packaging materials for cornstarch and lysine products
recorded a substantial decrease in 2023 as the Group replaced more
durable bags in 2022. In the meantime, the Group was required to acquire
new packaging materials for modified starch as the sales of modified starch
increased substantially during the year. Therefore, the Group still recorded an
increase in aggregate usage and purchase of new packaging materials during
the year under review.

The following table summarised the environment-related information for all
major subsidiaries of the Group for the past three consecutive years.

2023
—E-=F
Fresh water used (m?) FrRB K QLK) 1,884,863
Fresh water consumption intensity B /K HFEREISE
index' 129
Electricity used (GWh) FRAREN (FRE) 806
Electricity consumption intensity 88 /78 #ERE 5 &
index’ 104
Steam used (tonne) Fr A #5 (M) 2,518,643
Steam consumption intensity index' 2 /5 #E38 EE F5 &1 86
Fuel used (litre) P AR (A F)
— Diesel —4557h 283,768
— Unleaded petrol — B IS 69,395
GHG emissions? (tonne of COze) B E &AL HEME
(W5 —|AEH)
— Scope 1" —#HE1" 938
— Scope 2 —Fi[E2 1,265,309
— Total GHG emission’ —RERABEDEH 1,266,247
GHG emission intensity index* BE RS RCAEIEH 94
Water discharged (md) KM E QLHK)
- Waste water to recycled water —EE/KE(EABIREAK 4,160,204
- Waste water to sewage — B E S KBS B EE K
network 2,417,102
Non-hazardous waste' produced — EEMIEERREEY) (HF)
(tonne) 66,932
Packaging material used™ (tonne)  Fff R &£ ¥pikim (1) 10,902
f Fresh water, electricity and steam consumption intensity indices are calculated

as the intensity of fresh water, electricity and steam consumed per tonne of
physical product produced in the financial year relative to the intensity in the
2016 base year (set to 100).
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2022 2021
- —EF "%
2,164,876 2,037,133
152 134
786 735
103 95
2,673,524 2,424,367
90 86
414,432 407,155
59,106 84,577
1,279 1,312
1,273,946 1,262,320
1,275,225 1,263,632
96 90
4,050,311 4,032,190
2,996,180 2,732,015
71,925 66,590
10,240 7,888
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g The methodology used for the determination of emissions for the financial
year 2016 is based on various documents, such as 2006 IPCC Guidelines for
National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, and the 2015 Baseline Emission Factors
for Regional Power Grids in China issued by the Department of Climate
Change and IPCC Fifth Assessment Report.

h Scope 1 emissions represent the emissions from combustion of fuels at
stationary sources to generate electricity, steam, or heat which are owned or
controlled by the Group and transportation emissions from owned or operated
vehicles.

i Scope 2 emissions are emissions from consumption of purchased electricity,
steam and heat.

j Total GHG emissions are direct emissions, plus emissions from the net change
of purchasing and selling of electricity and steam.

k GHG emission intensity index is calculated as the GHG emissions from
physical products produced in the financial year relative to the intensity in the
base year (set to 100). The base year is 2016.

Non-hazardous wastes mainly represent sludge, saccharified residue,
inactivated bacteria residue and fertiliser.

m The quantity includes reusable packaging material that has been used many
times.

Other Environmental and Social Areas
Staff care

During the year under review, the Group organised various activities, such as poker
and chess competitions, tug-of-war competitions, Lantern Festival, Women’s Day
Festival, bicycle day and other activities for its staff. These activities could achieve
good team spirit and enhance harmony in the workplace. The expenses used
for these staff activities were not material to the Group. It is the Group’s policy to
contribute to activities which can benefit the community and create positive values for
society through our business and operation.

Intellectual property rights

We spend many resources on research and development of new products or
innovation of new production methods. It is very difficult to quantify the result of our
study outcome in monetary terms. The use of this knowhow, however, can improve
our production efficiency and control our cost effectively. In order to protect our
research and development results, the Group will register the results with the National
Intellectual Property Administration in the PRC.

Consumer data protection and privacy policies

Our transactions are a business-to-business model. Therefore, consumer data
protection and privacy policies are not material to our operation.

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Risk Review Report
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Our risk measurement philosophy

An effective risk review system could help an entity minimise and manage risks
efficiently. Our risk management and internal control systems are not one-off
arrangements; instead they are integrated into our daily business operations
and decision-making process. The objective of upholding a high standard of risk
management and internal control is to guarantee the sustainability of the Group’s
development.

The Board has the overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. These systems are monitored by the Board through the assistance
of the Audit Committee, Corporate Strategy and Development Department and
Internal Audit Department.

Identifying risks

The management uses risk scorecard to rank and compare each identified risk and its
related impact posing to the Group. Through this analysis process, all identified risks
are presented to the Board in an effective and comprehensible manner. The Board
reviews the risks and mitigation tools every year.

How we manage risk

Risk and control responsibility must be well-defined and delegated to each staff. Each
staff must understand their duty and recognise their responsibility. A well-defined
control prevention system is a key to success. Our risk prevention mechanism is as
follows:

BN ERERES

BERNARESZRIJENERRRAREERD
REMMERRR - BREERANBEZERRIL
F—RBLH B ZERMERMNBEE
BEERARBEN MM MERSKERRE
EBRABEZENENEREAEETFERRE-

EEEHAEERBERRNBEIERFAIEE
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R BB L ER A B T #ETTER 52 ©
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Risk ownership

R B A3

Monitoring

i it
BB

Compliance review

The executive management team is assigned the responsibility for managing risks and monitoring the
implementation of risk mitigation policies. In addition, the team heads are required to pledge themselves to ensure
appropriate control procedures are in place within their respective teams to the Chief Executive Officer once a
year.

HITEEEKaEEERMILEERBEFEBRAEEB R L S NEFERSFERITHRRIAERERE
ZENEKEH T BNEERR -

A monthly management report in respect to the operation, market and safety issues is circulated amongst the
management team. It allows the management to stay alert on potential risks in different seasons.
BANKE - THEAZE2EERNEERRREREERS  CEBEHIAAZTHIETRRRITERS

Internal Audit Department considers the review areas for the coming year and discusses its plan with the Audit
Committee. It also carries out ad-hoc tasks on specific areas which required by the Board or the management.
The internal audit report will be discussed with the respective department head and reviewed by the Board
respectively.

NESBIZAPIEZEBRENEEHE TREZEZETNHEE AT REEFENEREENERFFEAEEE
THREEZ NEEZRESFAKHMITEN R THESSHER -
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Challenges

After the end of the COVID-19 pandemic towards the end of 2022, people looked
forward to having an energetic and prosperous 2023. However, this hope burst
due to global inflation, dampening market demand and geopolitical tensions.
These unstable factors hindered the global economic recovery. The Group, as a
manufacturer of base materials, inevitably suffered from the adversed economic
factors during 20283. In response to these challenges, our competent management
team strengthened control on working capital and expenditures as well as adjusted
production schedules that minimised production costs on one hand and satisfied
customers’ orders on the other hand.

Principle risks analysis

Principle risk and uncertainty identification are part of our risk management system.
During the year under review, the Board held one meeting to discuss the risks and
mitigation tools. The risk of flattening demand was escalated during the year under
review. The following analysis shows the major risks and uncertainties that are
considered material and may adversely affect the business and financial position of
the Group.

PR

i ZE Z ZHECOVID-19B B4 R & AFIEAR
E—ERMENRERN S =F 4 2K
BERR ™5 BRG] MG BUARRERERME
E—HERE -ZETRERARER T AR
FEBFSERMHRES R-T =57
BRMZHZEAACERENTZE - REHZ
LHhE RMBHNEEER MR THEEESS
FeSz R WERE T EESE > — A E&/IME
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FIRERAEENEFZ RV BRREETAZERN
FERBRTEERSE

Our businesses are dependent on the prosperity of the Chinese | e
market. The challenge of oversupply and weak demand for |e

cornstarch and its related products accelerates over the year. market

RAERIERE S .

BN EFERBERPETSHER  TRBHREEEERME |
PR B K S5 I PR B IS S P AN B .

Major risks Mitigation plans
FTEERE £ 42 E g ot 21
Lack of growth dynamic in the PRC ° Maintain a strong balance sheet

. Maintain sufficient banking facilities
Strengthen the credit control of customers
Develop our business in a cornstarch-derivative product

HERRENEEERR

. RIFEHIRTHE
meHERNEERE

LRI RKBMITEERTIHNES

Failure to operate our plants as scheduled

Production schedule may be affected by working safety review and
environmental review.

We have no compromise on staff safety. Failure to follow safety
laws, regulations and standards may result in workplace accidents
involving injury or fatality. During the year under review, we spend
much effort to ensure that safety controls are in place.

In order to fulfil a regional gas pollutant or sewage discharge
benchmark set by the local government, factories in the region
may be required to limit their production output temporarily. The
frequency of such requirements may increase in the future.

BN IREAMAEE
EENBIERI T EZE2EERRETENZE-
RMEEIZ2FE LBRED WREBTZREN RO K
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Safety Supervision Department to oversee all safety issues
of the Group

Corporate Strategy and Development Department to
monitor control procedures in place regularly

Perform various safety exercises and safety drills regularly

Maintain high level of gas emission/sewage discharge
standard during our production

Have regular follow-up meetings with the municipal
government for expansion plans

CZEBERAEREMBELEEEH

AN ENERR L EEEREER
EHETESEZEAIRRERE
REERRESREN RSN 75 KB
EHRBBARFERSERTRETS
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Major risks
FERER

Mitigation plans
SRR

Failure to minimise adverse impacts from national-wide
disruptive forces such as disease and natural disaster

External events (such as swine flu, extreme weather, and crop
failure) would have a significant impact on our business. This could
happen at any time without warning.

BEARERRERAKXEFAZEARBREREZNTHZERER
1K

SNERSE M (WFERR S IR R R RIFVRE) R RMNERE
MEATE ZBERLEERTAL  FER e E-

Sourcing from national food reserve or other regions
Maintain adequate insurance to protect our assets
Review and update our mitigation plan regularly

Set up emergency mitigation action group if necessary

RERERFFHEIE MM ERE
BB ENNVRBEURERMNEE
TE R Y ke BB A ET 4R B B 5t )

W E BRI R E AR R IRTTE VA

Extra cost to neutralise greenhouse gas (“GHG”) footprint
The transfer of carbon neutrality roadmap to carbon neutrality

policy would affect business operations. It may also increase
operating costs and affect capital investment.

pIEERE (TRERRE)) BHBIEI R

R P AR AR E B RPN BRE B EBEE LRI 5t
BINEER AL EERRE -

Engage external GHG professional parties (eg. local
universities) to assist the Group to evaluate any new
investment projects

Investment in the use of power-saving equipment
Participate in the government/industry workgroup of
setting GHG standards

ZEECRERBEEEME WEMAS) URBAER
SHEEAFREER

REFHAMERR
SHEBIDRERBRENBR,ERITIE)NE

Failure to maintain our product quality

Our product may not achieve our customer’s required level
of quality or national standards. Poor quality or sub-standard
products could have a negative impact on our brand image and
reputation.

BEAMBRMANEREE

RN ERAEREEINTFERNEEKFTHAEREE-ES
BEHATERNVERGHERMRETERREE2ELEEETE

Undertake strict quality control and product testing

Carry out periodic product recall drills to improve the
handling process of product recalls shall they arise, hence
minimising the potential negative impact of any sub-
standard product on the Group

ETBRERNEERERHE
EHETERBRIESR  UESEER T RIRFAYEE
MR RMEEATERERBAEENETERRE

EERK

Failure to maintain production software security

The increase in using automated production methods can reduce
headcount effectively. However, it increases the exposure to
software malfunction risk. Operations may be interrupted by a
cyber-attack or false human input.

BEAMBLEERGZSE
EINEREEEENTS AR AL BT HE - 28T > EHIE/

TREMENER SEFEERRIFERREIATHAER
i = Eif o

Real-time power supply monitoring system

Implement strict physical security control in restricted
areas, e.g. control room

Use of firewall and antivirus software

BERHEBEEZERR
MR IRH &5 () EHE) BiERENYIER 2T
ERP NI RRFR M
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Major risks
FTERME

Mitigation plans
AR R bR ET R

Failure to manage price fluctuation in cornstarch, corn
kernel and energy costs

Cornstarch and corn kernel prices are more volatile in recent years.

We may not pass the increased cost to customers immediately
and may result in a significant loss.

BEBERRERN  FRNUKRERRETZERKE

R FRKBRID R RORKLBRE KRB B K o FAIFT BE 7% BB
MR ABERF  EMEMRERER-

Monitor the commodity price movement closely
Use derivatives
Set energy consumption reduction target

YRR EEE
ERITEER
I B AL MEFE R R

Breach of legal and regulatory requirements

It is a trend that environmental protection-related rules and
regulations will be more stringent year by year. Government
policies may change without prior signals. Evolving standards,
rules and regulations could result in increased costs, regulatory
actions, or in extreme cases, litigation or plant closure.

ERZEZEREEER

IR RERMNRERI —FE—F&E LERRBE -
AR EZELILNER T & - RE - R RRG T
SRR ERMALANBREETH THRHBELTETE
BER RS RARI TRR

Regular monitoring and review of changes in laws and
regulations

Act as a representative of industry group and participate in
the government policy/regulation-making stage

EHIBER MG ED R BRI E S
BEETEASNKRER  TERBER R OB E RN
A

Failure to promote new products

The Group may not execute a new product project as planned.

BEBENMER

FEFERDERFAEWTHAERER -

Market research and feasibility study on potential new
product

HWEEMEMETHSREERAITHEME

Failure to meet expansion target

Business combination, acquisition or formation of joint venture may
not achieve the expected outcome as planned.

BEREHREBER

EBa BRI EEEED R AR B ESTARMR -

Due diligence work on a potential acquisition target
Engage legal advisors to advise on investment or
cooperation proposal

HETWEERETRERMAS
EEFEERMRBAGIFREZRHER

The Board considered the internal control system is effective and adequate for the
year ended 31 December 2023. No significant areas of concern that might affect the

Group were identified.

It should be acknowledged that our risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China Starch Holdings
Limited (the “Company” or “China Starch”) understands maintaining high corporate
governance standards is crucial to success in the future. The Board and its dedicated
executive management teams always demonstrate its commitment in upholding
sound internal control standards, accountability and integrity to the shareholders and
stakeholders of the Company.

China Starch’s Mission and Objective

China Starch is committed to becoming a leading corn deep-processing
manufacturer in China. Our business history started in 1998. We have been focusing
on the application development of cornstarch and other related products for over a
quarter century. Our business decisions and objective are formulated based on “3S”:

Shareholders: Staff:

BRER : BES :

Providing reasonable investment Providing opportunities for

returns employees to realise their own value
RHSIBILERIR HEEBHRERSEERMHEES

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions as set out in Part 2
of Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during the year
under review and has applied the principles as laid down with the aim of achieving
a high level of governance, except that Mr. Tian Qixiang (the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director) did not attend the 2023 annual general meeting of the
Company (the “2023 AGM”) because of his other business engagement.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted its own Securities Dealing Code (the “Dealing Code”) on
terms no less exacting than the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. The Dealing Code
applies to all Directors and to all employees who are informed that they are subject to
its provisions. The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and that all the
Directors confirmed their compliance with the required standard set out in the Dealing
Code throughout the year under review.

The Board

The Board is accountable to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
for its leadership and control and is collectively responsible for promoting the
Company’s long-term success and businesses by directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs. The Board is currently composed of four executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. All members of the Board are subject to
the same duties of care and skill and fiduciary duties in upholding their accountability
to the Shareholders and in making decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Board, being the governing body of the Company, had led the management in
performing the following duties during the year under review:

° Formulating long-term and short-term strategic and business plans

o Approving the Group’s annual forecasts

o Evaluating the business performance of the Group

° Ensuring the integrity of financial information

° Evaluating the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk
management systems

° Developing, reviewing and monitoring the Group’s corporate governance

policies and practices and ensuring their implementation in accordance
with the CG Code (including but not limited to reviewing and monitoring the
training and CPD development of the Directors, the compliance with the
CG Code and the Dealing Code, as well as reviewing the disclosures in this
Corporate Governance Report)

o Ensuring the Group’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

To facilitate effective management, the Board has delegated certain functions
to various Board committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Each of these Board committees
operates under their respective written terms of reference on terms no less exacting
than the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. Suggestions and conclusions of
the Board committees will be reported to the Board in its subsequent meeting.

In addition, the Board also delegates the day-to-day operational responsibilities to the
executive management team under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer. The
Chief Executive Officer, working with the executive management team, is responsible
for the operations and business development of the Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Tian Qixiang holds the position of the
Chairman, and is primarily responsible for the strategic positioning. Mr. Gao Shijun
serves as the Chief Executive Officer, and is primarily responsible for the operations
and business development of the Group.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship(s)) among the Directors and in particular, between Mr. Tian
Qixiang (Chairman) and Mr. Gao Shijun (Chief Executive Officer). The biographies of
the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management
Profiles”.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Leung Siu Hong, the company secretary of the Company, is a full-time employee
of the Group. He also serves as the secretary of each of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and other board committees as
organised by the Board from time to time. Mr. Leung is responsible for advising
the Board through the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer on governance
matters, for example, to ensure Board procedures and applicable laws and
regulations are followed.

Mr. Leung is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and Association of Chartered Certified Accountant. Mr. Leung is also a
fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute.

During the year under review, Mr. Leung took no less than 15 hours professional
training to update his skills and knowledge.

2023 Board and Committee Meeting Attendance and Training
Record

During the year under review, the Board held four regular meetings. The regular Board
meetings are scheduled one year in advance to facilitate maximum attendance by the
Directors. Other additional Board meetings are convened as and when required.

Our Directors recognised the importance of participating in continuous professional
development (the “CPD”) to develop and refresh their knowledge and skill, which can
help them keep abreast of current trends and issues facing the Group and ensure
better fulfiiment of their duties as directors of the Company.
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The attendance record of the Directors at Board meetings, Board committee
meetings and the 2023 AGM, together with the type of training received by each of
the Directors during the year under review are as follows:

EENDBREENEFET SR EFTELE8T T
BERCECFRIFBFREGHFLE URE
EFRMEZHNEIENNT

Board Committee Meetings

FERE - ]
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination Type of
Meetings Committee Committee Committee 2023 AGM  CPD received
FrIERH
kit RHEE
EE BRZEE HEEE RL%Z8E RREEAS BRER
Executive Directors: BTES:
M. Tian Qixiang (Chairman) AE#LE (ER) 2/4 NA T 11 11 X B
Mr. Gao Shijun (Chief Executive Officer) B ERE (THER) 2/4 N/ARBR N/ARBR N/A RER / AB
Mr. Liu Xianggang HEL s 4/4 N/A RER N/ARER NA RER / AB
Mr. Yu Yingquan FERRE 4/4 NARER NARER NAFER / AB
Independent non-executive Directors: BIFnTEE:
Professor Hua Qiang TERHE 4/4 33 11 11 / AB
M. Sun Mingdao AL 44 33 1 1 v AB
M. Yue Kwal Wa, Ken REERE 4/4 33 11 11 / AB
A Attending briefings/seminars/webinars/forums/workshops/conferences relating to A HFE S B o BRI E A R R
directors’ duties or other relevant topics g/ @S wmiE S TIES
gE%
B Reading materials, such as newspapers, journals, business updates and regulatory B HEAER CEFEANESTHEERNMS

updates relating to business, economy or directors’ duties

Board Diversity

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. The current
Board Diversity Policy provides that, among others, the Company should not have
a single gender Board. In designing the Board’s composition, board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural, race, educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and independence under the Board Diversity Policy as published on the Company’s
website. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

The existing members of the Board consist of male Directors only. The Board has
set a target to appoint at least one director of a different gender to the Board by
the end of 2024. The Company expects this to be achievable with suitable effort in
promoting gender diversity culture within the Group, which the Company has been
advocating. We believe a board with gender diversity will give a more balanced view,
save for working experience and academic background, in formulating decisions at
the strategic level. The Company also endeavours to maintain gender diversity and
equality in terms of the whole workforce, by providing an equal working environment
and same opportunities to all our employees. In particular, we encourage our female
staff to participate in organising staff activities and express their ideas in different staff
panels.
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Director’s Appointments, Re-election and Removal

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an additional Director shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
general meeting.

Independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of one year subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles. Each
independent non-executive Director is required to inform the Company as soon as
practicable if there is any change that may affect his independence and must provide
annual confirmation of his independence to the Company.

Accountability and Audit

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards, using and
applying consistently suitable accounting policies and making reasonable and prudent
judgement and estimates. The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may affect the business of the Company or cast
doubts on its ability to continue as a going concern.

The financial information and plans were discussed in the regular Board meetings.
The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are responsible for
explaining the latest business development and financial projections to the Directors.

During the year under review, the fees payable to the external auditor of the Group,
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (“SHINEWING”), and its affiliated firms comprise
service charges for the following:

Audit service EIZR
Others HAth

EENZE -EERER

RIEANBDERMA BREFREVE=FH
MBE—R - ERAIAFRR ZRAERIEE
EMEZENERETERELRBD T —RERRE
RE ERBEERNZREAG LEZEE

BUFRTESENERA—F LARBEEREM
AR REREZEE - HHREAIELES
VIRMITERB I MENET SFIIFNTES
HAETENTHER TERBANARR WA
MEBIERRRBERFEERED

L0222

EXEERED REFEERETBHYHFREER
REBGSHERRRMABTMAFHIRE HEH
BHx TEEHNERRERBENGER
MR AR BB T HBH B R (5t - ESE G0 5
EREMETEGEELARDNEFTASHFTE
REEENRENEM B REBNERTAME
o

EXEEETHEETIRYBERNME AR
AEFERTHASEEERNSEETHERMHNES
BRI BER
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Risk Management and Internal Control

Each company and industry is associated with specific inevitable risks. We cannot
avoid them, but we adopt the best and responsible approach to manage and
overcome them. Our risk management and internal control systems have been in
place for many years, which provide the assurance of operation efficiency, work
safety and safeguarding of assets. The Company does not set up a designated
committee for reviewing risk management and internal control systems. However, the
Board undertakes the responsibility for monitoring the business risks and formulating
plans and risk management policies to mitigate potential risks and uncertainties
that materially affect the business of the Group. The Board is also responsible for
evaluating the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group. The risk management and internal systems are reviewed on an ongoing
basis by the Board in order to ensure that they are effective in providing reasonable
assurance in relation to the identification of business risks. The Board is satisfied that,
based on the best information available and its own observations, the present risk
management and internal control systems of the Group are effective and adequate.

The management team is delegated by the Board to identify, manage and mitigate
material risks that might adversely affect our business. Once the management team
considers any newly-identified risk to be material, it will report such risk to the Board
for assessment and consideration of implementing a corresponding mitigation plan
where appropriate. However, it is possible that certain risks remain undetected or
unidentified and risks currently identified as immaterial may eventually turn out to
be material to our Group. In view of the inevitable nature of certain risks associated
with our business and industry, our risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate unavoidable risks of failure to achieve
the Group’s business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The following diagram shows the risk management hierarchy of the Group, which ~ TR#EIAEENREREREEHR  HiIZHEMA
provides information on our processes used to identify, evaluate and manage  K#AFHEREEEXRARIRENER
significant risks:

The Board
BEg
o Monitoring business risks
EREBAR The Board
. Formulating plans and risk management policies o
% 5T 8 5 B bR B IR B
. Evaluating effectiveness of risk controls and mitigation tools \
T R B 22 1) e 2% & T BLAY ALY P -
o Overseeing and ensuring the conduct of reviews on the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems at
least annually Audit Committee
BEREEREFEVHAEENREBREERANEERFET Bi2EEg
—REH \_
Audit committee e
EREAY N N
. Reviewing the Group’s risk management and internal control Operational \ i \
Internal Audit
systems at least annually Management BRI AL
BFEEIHAERNRREERANISGEERFET —RER SEEHE " =
o Ensuring the Group’s management has performed its duty )

in implementing the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems
BRI EEEEERITHATHAERRMREERNSEZERR
S

° Considering major findings on risk management and internal
control matters

EREARERRNBEEEFNEAER

Operational departments

EELM

. Identifying different risks and uncertainties in each operating
cycle
#H A B EEEBRR BN R R FRABER

. Reporting identified risks and significant adverse business
factors
BREEHIARKRERATHEBRR

. Implementing risk controls and mitigation policies determined

by the Board
HITHEFET N REBES R EFEBR

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z—=%%# 43



Corporate Governance Report

TEERRS

Operational departments

The function of operational management includes, inter alia, the identification of
potential risks and the implementation of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, including risk controls and mitigation policies, as determined by the
Board in the course of daily operations.

The Group has built in the risk management culture from top to bottom. At
departmental level, the Group has prescribed, for each operational department, our
risk management principles, control procedures and code of conducts in order to
promote stronger understanding of stewardship responsibilities, delegation of duties,
and accountability for the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
At staff level, the Group has laid down the business ethics policy, whistleblowing
policy and inside information escalation policy to ensure that sufficient controls are in
place to guide our employees’ behaviours through, and ensure timely and decisive
responses to, potential and emerging crises. To enforce our people’s individual risk
management capabilities and minimise any gap between the Board’s risk vision and
the management’s actions, risk-related objectives are also integrated into employees’
annual performance goals and appraisal process.

The Group emphasises production safety and product safety in every aspect of our
operations. Safety always comes first.

The production safety function is carried out by the Safety Supervision Department
(the “SSD”) of the Group. The major functions of SSD includes, inter alia, the
promotion of risk management culture, compliance and regulatory standards. It also
carries out periodical drills on whole-factory scale, such as fire drill, prevention of dust
explosion review, safety review on working at height and use of corrosive chemicals,
regular staff examination on safety issues, etc.

The product safety function is carried out by the Corporate Strategy and
Development Department (the “CSDD”). It carries out product recall drills periodically.
In addition, CSDD also assists our department heads to develop control procedures
in their respective departments.

The management believes that periodic drills provide our employees with
opportunities to train and test their reactions under different critical situations. In
addition, it also allows the Group to evaluate the effectiveness of each of our codes of
conduct and risk management and internal control procedures.

14
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Internal audit is an important component of corporate risk management. The internal
audit function is performed by the Group’s Internal Audit Department (the “IAD”). The
major responsibilities of IAD are as follows:

(i) To carry out independent review on business activities;

(i) To analyse any areas of potential control, operational, compliance and
financial weaknesses and their impacts;

(iif) To report findings on any weakness areas; and
(iv) To suggest improvement and remedy procedures.

Relationship of Audit Committee and the Board under risk
management framework

The Audit Committee is delegated with the responsibility to review the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems at least
annually. Periodical review reports and presentations in relation to internal control and
risk management matters are provided to the Audit Committee by the management.
These reports allow the Audit Committee to assess the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems. Whenever a weakness of the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems is identified, the Audit Committee
is responsible for discussing its potential financial impacts and the corresponding
remedy procedures with the Board and the management. The Group had not been
aware of any material internal control failings or weaknesses affecting its overall
operation during the year under review.

A Risk Review Report set out on pages 33 to 36 summarised our works conducted
and the evaluation of risks associated with the Group during the year under review.

Inside information

An inside information escalation policy is in place and sets out the principles and
internal control procedures for guiding our Directors and relevant employees on the
handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner and in adherence
to the relevant laws and regulations. The policy is subject to review by the Board from
time to time in view of, among others, relevant legal and regulatory updates.

Audit Committee

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process, financial controls, internal control and risk management
system of the Group and to provide recommendations and advice to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor as well as their terms of
appointment.

The Audit Committee of the Company currently consists of all independent non-
executive Directors, namely Professor Hua Qiang, Mr. Sun Mingdao and Mr. Yue Kwai
Wa, Ken. Mr. Yue is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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During the year under review, the Audit Committee performed the following duties:

o Reviewed the Group’s annual report and interim report

o Reviewed the significant accounting policy and the impact of the adoption of
new financial reporting standards

° Discussed the audit issues with the external auditor

o Reviewed the annual internal audit plan

o Made recommendation of the appointment of external auditor

o Reviewed the whistleblowing policy of the Group

o Assessed the independence of external auditor

° Reviewed and discussed the internal audit reports and risk management

findings with our management
Remuneration Committee

The major function of the Remuneration Committee is to make recommendation to
the Board on the remuneration policy and remuneration structure for all Directors.

Our remuneration policy prohibited our Directors from determining his or her
own remuneration. Each Director’s remuneration package has been considered
and/or reviewed periodically with respect to his or her individual performance,
responsibilities, financial performance of the Group, market practice and other
applicable factors.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of all independent non-executive
Directors namely Professor Hua Qiang, Mr. Sun Mingdao and Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken
and the Chairman of the Company, Mr. Tian Qixiang. Mr. Yue is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors for the financial year 2022 and 2023 are the same. On 15 December 2023,
the Remuneration Committee reviewed the annual remuneration package of both the
executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors for the financial year
20283 and has recommended to the Board that the annual remuneration for Directors
should remain unchanged for the financial year 2024.

None of the Directors participated in any discussion about his own remuneration in
the meetings regarding the review of remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The major functions of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure and
composition of the Board, to implement and review the Board Diversity Policy, to
review and provide recommendations on the terms of Director’s service contract, and
to assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.
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The Board adopts a board diversity policy that, in formally nominating a candidate,
the Board shall assess the suitability of a proposed candidate by taking into
account factors including but not limited to gender, age, cultural, race, educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and independence. A
summary of the Group’s diversity policy is set out in page 40 above.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of all independent non-executive
Directors, namely Professor Hua Qiang, Mr. Sun Mingdao and Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken
and the Chairman of the Company, Mr. Tian Qixiang. Mr. Yue is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee performed the following
duties:

o Assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors

o Made recommendations on the re-election of retiring Directors to the Board

o Reviewed the background and suitability of a proposed independent non-
executive Director

o Evaluated the structure and composition of the Board

o Reviewed the Company’s Board Diversity Policy

o Reviewed the term of reference of the Nomination Committee

Nomination Policy

The Company sets out below the nomination procedures and the process and criteria
contained in the Nomination Policy adopted by the Board.

Nomination Procedures and Process

The factors listed below would be used principally by the Nomination Committee in
assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate.

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of the Nomination
Committee, and invite nominations of candidates from members of the Board if any,
for consideration by the Nomination Committee before its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not nominated by members of
the Board.

o For filling a casual vacancy or appointing an additional member to the Board,
the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval.

. For proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation.

o A circular will be sent to the shareholders of the Company to provide
them with the name, brief biography, proposed remuneration, (where an
independent non-executive Director is to be nominated) independence
and other information of the proposing candidate in accordance with the
requirements of the applicable laws, rules and regulations including those of
the Listing Rules.
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A shareholder can serve a written notice to the Company for the attention of
the Company Secretary of his or her intention to propose a certain person for
election as a Director. This written notice, together with (i) the information of
the candidate as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules and such other information as may be considered relevant to his or
her proposed election; and (i) the written consent by that person to the
publication of his or her personal data provided pursuant to (i) immediately
above, for publication by the Company in its corporation communication
documents in compliance with the Listing Rules or as may be required by
the Stock Exchange must be served at the principal place of business in
Hong Kong of the Company for a period of no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting and ending no later than 7 days
prior to the date of such meeting.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general meeting.

Criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee

18

Business experience: The candidate should have significant experience
from a senior role in an area of business, public affairs or academia, relevant
to the Company. Awareness of the corn deep-processing industry would be
an advantage but not a requirement in all cases.

Public board experience: The candidate should have relevant expertise and
experience earned as a Board member of a reputable listed company or from
a senior position in his or her industry, public affairs or academia.

Diversity: The candidate should contribute to the Board being a diverse
body, with diversity reflecting gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, qualifications, skills and length
of service. Given the current composition of the Board, a female candidate
would be an advantage.

Standing: The candidate should be of the highest ethical character and have
a strong reputation and standing, both personally and professionally, in his or
her fields.

Time commitment: Each Board member must have sufficient time
available for the proper performance of his or her duties. Directors should be
sufficiently free of other commitments to be able to devote the time needed to
prepare for meetings and participate in induction, training, appraisal and other
Board associated activities.

Independence: For the candidate who is proposed as an independent non-
executive Director, he or she must satisfy all the independence requirements
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. He or she must always be aware
of threats to his or her independency and avoid any conflict of interest with
the Company. He or she must be able to represent and act in the best
interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive.
The Nomination Committee may also consider such other factors as it may see fit
which are in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The
Nomination Committee and the Board may set specific requirements, depending on
the development needs of the Company, for the candidates.

Communications with Shareholders

The objective of Shareholders’ communication is to provide our Shareholders with
detailed information about the Company so that they can engage actively with the
Company and exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner. The
Company uses various communication tools to promote effective communication with
its Shareholders and to provide them with balanced and understandable information
about the Company, including general meetings, annual and interim reports,
notices, announcements, circulars and electronic means of communication via the
Company’s website. The Board welcomes enquiries from Shareholders and will
review Shareholders’ enquiries on a regular basis. Shareholders and the investment
community may at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the
extent such information is publicly available. Specific enquiries and suggestions
by Shareholders can be sent by post to the Company’s office at Room 1101-4,
11/F, Harcourt House, 39 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or by email to
ir@chinastarch.com.hk.

In case of shareholding enquires, Shareholders should direct their enquiries to the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, via its website at www.tricoris.com, or by email to is-enquiries@hk.
tricorglobal.com, or dial its hotline at (852) 2980 1333 or go in person at its public
counter at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

A Shareholder’s Communication Policy was adopted by the Board in order to
promote effective communication between the Shareholders and the Company. This
policy is available on our website. The Board reviewed the communication activities
with the Shareholders during the year and based on such review was satisfied with
the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder’'s Communication Policy.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the
Company can convene an extraordinary general meeting by depositing the requisition
in writing to the Company. The procedures for Shareholder(s) to convene and present
proposals at general meetings, including proposing a person for election as a
Director, are available on our website.

Constitutional Documents

The Company did not make any changes to its constitutional documents during the
year under review.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

377
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Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Qixiang, aged 60, joined the Group in 2003. Mr. Tian is the chairman of
the Board and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Board since 2007. Mr. Tian is principally responsible for the Group’s
strategic positioning. He is also responsible for formulating the Group’s business
development objectives and ensuring that such objectives are implemented by the
Board accordingly. Mr. Tian is also a director of Shandong Shouguang Juneng Golden
Corn Development Co., Ltd. (“Golden Corn”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, and Shouguang Golden Corn Biotechnology Limited (“Golden Corn
Biotech”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, respectively.

Mr. Tian completed his study of Electricity and Water Irrigation from Water and
Electricity Machinery School in 1981 and graduated from The Shandong Province
Party Committee School of the People’s Republic of China with a diploma in
Economics Management in 1996. Mr. Tian obtained the qualification as a senior
economist in December 2002.

Mr. Tian is beneficially interested in approximately 54.58% of the issued share capital
of Merry Boom Group Limited (“Merry Boom”), a controlling Shareholder of the
Company, and he is also a director of Merry Boom.

Mr. Gao Shijun, aged 56, joined the Group in 1998 and is currently the chief
executive officer of the Company. Mr. Gao is principally responsible for overseeing
the Group’s operations and business management. Mr. Gao is also a director of the
following subsidiaries of the Company:

- Golden Corn

- Golden Corn Biotech

- Linging Deneng Golden Corn Bio Limited

- Shouguang Golden Far East Modified Starch Co., Ltd
- Shouguang Juneng Musashino Biotechnology Co., Ltd

Mr. Gao obtained an undergraduate degree in Physics in 1989 and a Master of
Business Administration degree in 2012 from Shandong University. He was also
awarded the qualification of senior engineer in 2010. Mr. Gao is a council member of
China Starch Industry Association.
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Mr. Liu Xianggang, aged 55, joined the Group in 1998. Mr. Liu is also a director of
Golden Corn and Golden Corn Biotech respectively. He is responsible for the Group’s
production technology developments and cornstarch production.

Mr. Liu graduated from Shandong Industrial University (subsequently amalgamated
into Shandong University in 2000) in 1990 with an undergraduate degree in Industrial
Management, and obtained a postgraduate diploma in Industrial Economics from
the Economics School of Shandong University in 2003. Mr. Liu also obtained a
Master of Business Administration degree from Shandong University in 2012. Mr. Liu
obtained the qualification as senior engineer in 2002. Mr. Liu is a vice-chairman of the
Cornstarch Professionals Committee of China Starch Industry Association.

Mr. Yu Yingquan, aged 55, joined the Group in 2003. Mr. Yu is principally
responsible for the overall management in investment and corporate finance of
the Group. Mr. Yu is also a director of Golden Corn and Golden Corn Biotech
respectively.

Mr. Yu graduated from Shandong Hydro Institute in 1990 with a diploma in
Hydro Economic and Financial Management, and obtained a diploma in Finance
Management from Shandong Economics Management Institute in 1998. Mr. Yu
obtained the Certificate of Accounting Professional of the People’s Republic of China
issued by Finance Bureau of Shouguang City in 1997.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Professor Hua Qiang, aged 52, has been appointed as independent non-executive
Director on 17 May 2016. Professor Hua also serves as a member of each of the
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Board.
Professor Hua has been a professor of the School of Biotechnology and the State
Key Laboratory of Bioreactor Engineering of the East China University of Science and
Technology since 2008. He obtained a bachelor and a master degree in chemical
engineering (major in biochemical engineering) from the Zhejiang University in 1993
and 1996 respectively. He also obtained a doctoral degree in information engineering
from the Kyushu Institute of Technology (Japan) in 2000. He was appointed as an
assistant professor of Institute for Advanced Biosciences of the Keio University
(Japan) from 2001 to 2004, and was appointed as a postdoctoral scholar of the
Department of Bioengineering of the University of California, San Diego from 2004
to 2007. He had also been a medical research scientist for Sanford Burnham Prebys
Medical Discovery Institute (formerly known as “Burnham Institute for Medical
Research”) (the United State of America) from 2007 to 2008.

Mr. Sun Mingdao, aged 75, has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 5 September 2013. Mr. Sun also serves as a member of each of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr.
Sun is an advisor to the China Starch Industry Association.

Mr. Sun had been a deputy director of the research centre and a vice general
manager of Wuhan Huali Environmental Technology Co., Ltd. from 2001 to 2007.
Mr. Sun had served as a standing committee member, and the Sixth and Seventh
Sessions’ chief secretary of China Starch Industry Association respectively.
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Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken, aged 58, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 5 September 2007. Mr. Yue also serves as the chairman of
each of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee
of the Board.

Mr. Yue is serving as an executive director, the chairman, the chief executive officer,
the company secretary and the compliance officer of Roma (meta) Group Limited
(“Roma”). He is also an independent non-executive director of Major Holdings Limited
(“Major”). The shares of Roma and Major are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

Mr. Yue is a certified public accountant with solid experience in accounting, auditing
and corporate finance. Mr. Yue is also a member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Colorado State Society of Certified Public Accountants.
He is also holding a specialist certificate and a practicing certificate in corporate
finance of the Hong Kong Securities Institute.

Senior Management
All the executive Directors are responsible for the various aspects of the business and

operation of the Group. These executive Directors are regarded as members of the
senior management team of the Group.
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Independent Auditor's Report
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. L]

. . . .

. . .., SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
. . 17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,

311 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Starch Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
59 to 121, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(*HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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Valuation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use

assets

Refer to notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting

policies notes 2.6, 2.7 and 2.24 respectively.

ME--BERREAREAEEENG
&

EARSHEHMBRRM 16K 7TU KRBT
FHTEE2.6°2.7K%2.240

The key audit matter
FARETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B hREAMEENS A

We identified the valuation of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements.

ERYE- -BERREURGCAREENGHERSHUBRRNE
2N BMERERERMREETEER

As at 31 December 2023, carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets are approximately
RMB2,162,498,000 and RMB425,922,000 respectively, which
represented approximately 48.4% of total assets of the Group. It
involves a significant degree of judgement by the management
in assessing whether there are any indicators of impairment for
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at the end
of the reporting period which may affect the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. Therefore,
it comes to our concern that there is a risk of valuation of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

RIEBE_=F+_A=+—HB WE -BEAXKEBEURGCAEEE
BIBREE 9 B4 5 AR 152,162,498,0007T K A R #5425,922,0007T »
1h BEEEEEEN484% EEBEEETLYHE BMEKRHKE
UERERAEEENRESHARET ARG HYE BEKREHE
UERERAEEENRAEENTZENHENREELEANE A

T HPNEESENE BERRFEUREBREEETEHEN
R

No impairment loss was recognised during the year ended 31
December 2023.

RBEE_ZSE_=F+_A=+—HLEEE UEBEDTABES
o

Our audit procedures were designed to evaluate the management’s
assessment of the indicators of impairment and, where such
indicators were identified, assessed the management’s impairment
testing and identify any valuation risk of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets.
BPNESEFNR AT ZERE N RETRATEL 05T
REEEBSBAPFRNERT  TEEEBATEEIORER R Uk
WA MERREBURGHAEEENTAMGERR-

We have discussed with the management on the key assumptions
used in the management’s assessment of the indicators of
impairment. We have also physically inspected whether the property,
plant and equipment are kept in a good condition on sample basis.
BMEAEEEREEB AT L AENRESMEANEERR
BRTHEBSYE BERRBETEMRE  UEIRERTR
RREFRR

54

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

RENBRMIERAIRAR



Independent Auditor’'s Report
BB ENER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies

notes 2.8 and 2.9 respectively.

8 5 UGBV iR B 5T

FDRZREE B REWFT20U KR E TR
512.8/k2.9°

The key audit matter
FREHEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B PREFMEENG &

We have identified the impairment assessment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter because the loss allowance
involves significant degree of management estimation and may be
subject to management bias.
AREEREIREBENEXRGEHARIEZRNERBNRR
HMEREEZ R R ET hRREEETEE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had trade receivables of
approximately RMB136,797,000.
W_E_=F+"_H=+—8"
136,797,0007T ©

EEEBFESREROARE

Expected credit loss (the “ECL”) impairment model has been
adopted based on the provision matrix after considering ageing,
repayment history and/or past due status of respective trade
receivables.

TEERE BB (TEREEHBEY) BERT N E BB B 2 IR
TAR AR ER ~ B TNE £ Ko, S0 8 BAAR JR 18 - AR 48R 185 45 A P i £ 4 ©

Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed rates over
the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward
looking information including both current and forecast general
economic conditions.
ASHEEENDEREBATTERERFRANELREE WA
EMER (B1E BRI AR BB (LA

No impairment loss was recognised during the year ended 31
December 2023.

RBEE_SE_=F+_BA=+—HLEEFE UEEDTMAHES
o

Our audit procedures were designed to assess and challenge the
assumptions, judgment and basis of the Group’s ECL model on
impairment assessment of trade receivables.
FEPBARFENRADATERER SEEESEURHRIERET
ENFEREEHEBELNRS AR ER-

We have challenged and assessed the reasonableness of
management’s assumptions, judgment and basis in determining
credit loss allowance on trade receivables by examining the
information used by management, including testing accuracy
of the historical default data, testing trade receivables past due
ageing analysis as at 31 December 2023, on a sample basis,
by comparing individual items in the analysis with the relevant
supporting documents and evaluating whether the historical loss
rates are appropriately adjusted for forward looking information
including both current and forecast general economic conditions.
HEMEaHEaaAEEEFRANER (BFEERENBRNE
BUESCAERER 2=+ "A=+—BNEZRKFIBAHRE
D) o LEEL D AT R BB BN 18 B K A8 B 58 PR S I 5T FE SE RS 1R
EEEMATEMEER (B81F B8R KRN BELERR) (FHEEH
BotMERKTHEEBENECEZRBREEEHEEREED
BIMERES ~ IR R BB S IR 1% o

We have also inspected cash received from debtors after year
end relating to trade receivables balance as at 31 December
2023, with the relevant supporting documents, on a sample
basis.

EMTEMER S _=F+-_A=+—HEEHBAWNERRE
K EZRIGRIBEGEHNIRE  ERBRMEREX -
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Information other than the consolidated financial statements
and auditor’s report thereon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors of the company and audit
committee for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
BB ENER

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors of the Company.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
VR A Ik e

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is
Mr. Pang Wai Hang.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: P05044

Hong Kong
20 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

9:|:

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZZTZ

'TJ@ N LI&

1R

=F+ZR=+t—HIEHFE

2023 2022
—EZ= =S
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AREFT AREFT
Revenue KA 5 11,797,534 11,948,852
Cost of sales THE M A (11,240,962) (10,758,377)
Gross profit EFH 556,572 1,190,475
Distribution expenses DIHE R (157,175) (171,044)
Administrative expenses THER (194,551) (207,835)
Research expenses &R (160,490) (324,108)
Other net income HMsWA 6 113,114 119,838
Operating profit ES=F 1P| 157,470 607,326
Finance income REWA 7 24,120 18,264
Finance expenses MEER 8 (4,757) (4,474)
Profit before income tax BRERS M AIF)E 9 176,833 621,116
Income tax expense FTi8f sz 12 (19,437) (125,684)
Profit and total comprehensive income TEEMHREGEEWHEEE
for the year 157,396 495,432
Attributable to: LUTN R IERE, -
Owners of the Company KABHEEB A 107,959 352,009
Non-controlling interests JEEER RS 49,437 143,423
157,396 495,432
Earnings per share attributable to ERATEEANEESRER
owners of the Company
Basic and diluted earnings per share (RMB) &SREAREERF (AEHT) 13 0.0180 0.0587
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SHP AR R

As at 31 December 2023 W_Z_=#F+_B=+—H

2023 2022
—E=HF —E:
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
[hE AR¥F AR#FT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BEREE 16 2,162,498 1,892,095
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 17 425,922 436,292
Deposits for acquisition of property, WEE) 2~ B R s Y
plant and equipment fREE® 29,909 38,946
Equity investment R E 18 21,954 9,995
Deferred tax assets IEIEFRIBE A 23 14,719 61,999
Total non-current assets ERIMEEEE 2,655,002 2,439,327
Current assets RENEE
Inventories 7B 19 730,676 866,404
Trade and other receivables B 5 B H i FE =R 20 563,697 589,550
Income tax recoverable AU [ElFT 1S 3,365 -
Pledged bank deposits BIRIRIRITTER 21 500,056 207,582
Cash and cash equivalents RENRIREEEY 21 899,830 1,002,985
Total current assets MENEEME 2,697,624 2,666,521
Total assets BEHEE 5,352,626 5,105,848
EQUITY Em
Equity attributable to owners of EATEE AEGEER
the Company
Share capital [IZIN 22 530,230 532,500
Other reserves HihEE 473,149 481,536
Retained earnings TREB&RF) 2,658,450 2,581,054
3,661,829 3,595,090
Non-controlling interests JEPERR IR B i 274,724 226,693
Total equity R EE 3,936,553 3,821,783
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BHF TR

As at 31 December 2023 H_Z_=F+"_H=+—H
2023 2022
—Eg-= —_=EFE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5% AREFT AREFT
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities JERBAE
Deferred income R IEWA 26 164,751 244,722
Deferred tax liabilities IRIERRIBEEE 23 58,948 73,410
Total non-current liabilities JETREI B (RAEEE 223,699 318,132
Current liabilities mEEE
Trade and other payables B 5 KR EMBENR 27 433,655 369,149
Advances from customers BERBH; 28 175,490 205,166
Income tax payable FEFRER - 54,522
Borrowings RN 25 550,365 285,925
Dividends payable BRI R - 27,307
Employee housing deposits BIRERSEE 29 23,864 23,864
Total current liabilities REaELEEE 1,192,374 965,933
Total liabilities B{E4EEE 1,416,073 1,284,065
Total equity and liabilities Em Kk BEE%E 5,352,626 5,105,848
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 March 2024. EEER T TNF=ZAZ+HHMERERET

Tian Qixiang

The notes on pages 64 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.

o

Yu Yingquan
FHER
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In

EHHERBEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_Z

Equity

_=FE+A=+—HLEEE

Non-
Share Special Capital Statutory Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
FrR
B HhlEE BRffE HERE REER st BERED @At
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Wi ARETR ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR
(Note)
(3D
At 1 January 2022 RZZZZ5-F-H 532,500 27,080 56,196 324,998 2,337,189 3,277,963 214,069 3,492,022
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEERI B R S MEHEE - - - 352,009 352,009 143,423 495,432
2021 final dividend ZET-ERERE 14 - - - - (34,882) (34,882) - (34,882
Dividend attributable to non-controlling interest CRBRFERRRRENRE - - - - - (130,789) (130,789)
Transfer to statutory reserves BAEERE - - - 73,262 (73,262) - - -
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZBZZE+ZA=+-HR

“E_=F-B-H 532,500 27,080 56,196 398,260 2,581,064 3,595,090 226,693 3,821,783
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year ZMFJ;%‘ HRSEWEEE - - - 107,959 107,959 49,437 157,396
2022 final dividend ZZICERERE 14 - - - - (38,133) (38,139) - (38,133)
Dividend attributable to non-controlling interest CRBRFERRRRENRE - - - - - (1,406) (1,406)
Repurchase of shares BERSD 22 (2.270) - - - (817) (3,087) - (3,087)
Transfer to statutory reserves Y- - - (8,387) 8,387 - - -
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=F+ZB=1+-H 530,230 27,080 56,196 389,873 2,658,450 3,661,829 274,724 3,936,563

Note: B 5E

Special reserve represents (a) the difference between the nominal value of the share capital
and share premium issued by the Company and the aggregate of the share capital and share
premium of the subsidiaries acquired upon the Group’s reorganisation; and (b) the difference
between the consideration paid by the direct subsidiary for the entire registered capital of the

indirect subsidiary and the amount of registered capital of the indirect subsidiary.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SR RER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE_ZT

=F+A=+—HLEFE

2023 2022
—E—= —_=EF_
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
b= ARBTFT ARBEF T
Cash flows from operating activities KETHMNIRERE
Cash generated from operations REEENIRE 21(b) 438,516 458,037
Income tax paid EHMFRER (44,506) (155,004)
Interest paid BRFE (4,757) (4,470)
Interest received [Sells) 24,120 18,264
Net cash generated from operating activities =~ A& EEEENIR S FEE 413,373 316,827
Cash flows from investing activities REEHNRERE
Payments for property, plant and equipment — #% i = R 5% AU R (408,951) (180,009)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, Y2 BB R BN E LR
plant and equipment Eeka (12,683) (31,116)
Government grant received B UBFT B 400 67,077
Proceeds from disposals of property, REHEWE BB KRZENRT
plant and equipment B 4,952 10,161
Increase in pledged bank deposits BIRIRIRITERUE 0 (292,474) (207,582)
Purchase of equity investments BERERE (11,280) (8,000)
Dividend income from equity investments R E R S WA 94 -
Net cash used in investing activities KREGEHERANIREFE (719,942) (349,469)
Cash flows from financing activities MEFESNRERE
Proceeds from borrowings *BERBFTER 536,047 309,188
Repayment of borrowings BEER (262,700) (135,855)
Dividends paid BHERE (66,846) (138,364)
Repurchase of shares LR, (3,087) -
Lease payments iEN=ENE
— Capital elements - KEHD - (438)
— Interest elements - MEE D - (4)
Increase in employee housing deposits BTIREMFBEIEMN - 128
Net cash generated from financing activities ~ BRE EENFRISIR & 548 203,414 34,650
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERREEEY (AL
cash equivalents BIEEE (103,155) 2,008
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—B—HHNBRERREEEY 1,002,985 1,000,977
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December PR+ _-_A=+—HKMNEEX
Be%EY) 21(a) 899,830 1,002,985
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHM B wRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZ-Z_=F+_F=+—HILFE

64

General information

China Starch Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands under the Cayman Islands Companies Law as an exempted
company with limited liability on 29 November 2006. Its ultimate holding
company is Merry Boom Group Limited (“Merry Boom”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”"). The address of its
registered office and principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section to the annual report. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) are the manufacture and sale of cornstarch, lysine, starch-based
sweetener, modified starch and its related products.

The Company has its primary listing on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”),
unless otherwise stated.

Summary of material accounting policies information

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(*HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B EREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

2

Summary of material accounting policies information 2 EAGHBRENBRE &
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 IRNEE(E
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 211 EFHERKEZEE
(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Company (a) KR E] AT FRAN B9 T 5T K2
BT

The following new amendments to standards have been
effective for the accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023:

DUFHEsTERBER =
E_-F—-HB—BEH
BB :

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies

EAGHENE IR AEEVBREENBERERR B GTERES
Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates
ER G ERESH BT et 2 ER

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction

ERAGHENS12RZED HE— X ZEENEEREBERRZIELERE
Amendments to HKAS 12, International tax reform-pillar two model rules
ERAGHENSE12R 2B BIRRB R E - ZR& iR

The adoption of these new and amended standards and

interpretation does not have any significant impact to the
results and financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB ERERMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZ-Z_=F+_F=+—HILFE

2 Summary of material accounting policies information 2 BEAREHBRENEE &
(Continued)
2.1  Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 IRNEE (B
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 211 EFHEREEZEE (&)
(Continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet (b) E 18 1 77 6] 2K 4 3L AY#T
effective FT R A 5T & BB iR
=R

The Group has not applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs which were issued before 31 December 2023 and
are pertinent to its operations but not yet effective:

A& B R FE AT
R_E_=%+_58
=+—HAEMATEA
EBBERBHRENN
ERAMBREENE
5T

Effective for
accounting
periods on or

after
RUTHEBSHZEH
EEHHIREX

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current and the
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

BEBGHENEIK B RAaE I ERARBEIERE KB AR RS (20205F)
Z HERMEST

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current liabilities with covenants

BEBGHEANE1R BT M RENIERE AR

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7, Supplier finance arrangements

BEBGHERNETRE B BYBRSEETR BT HEMMELH

Amendments to HKAS 21, Lack of exchangeability

BEBGTEAE21K BT RZ ol Rt

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture

BEBUBREERFI0RREB G HEE28T 2B REZEHHBERANE
EhEZHANEELHESNTE

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease liabilities in a sales and leaseback

BEBUBREEAFI6R 2B ERHERNHEEAR

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FET TSR ZR MY BT

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE_ZT

2

=F+ZR=+t—HIEHFE

Summary of material accounting policies information
(Continued)

2.2

2.3

2.4

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. When necessary, amounts
reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income of
subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

The chief operating decision-maker is comprised of the executive
directors of the Company and the senior executive management of
the Group. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments. Information relating to
segment assets and liabilities is not disclosed as such information is
not regularly reported to the chief operating decision-maker.
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Summary of material accounting policies information

(Continued)

2.5

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Foreign currency translation

(a

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB, which is the Group’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in profit or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the end of the reporting period; and

(ii) income and expenses for each profit or loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions).

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations are
taken to other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange
differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies information
(Continued)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than those under construction,
are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment loss.
Property, plant and equipment under construction for production or
administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet determined, are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Property, plant
and equipment under construction is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over
the estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 15 - 35 years
Plant and machinery 5-12 years
Motor vehicles 6 years
Other machinery 4 - 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within ‘Other
net income’ in profit or loss.
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Summary of material accounting policies information
(Continued)

2.7

2.8

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.

Financial instruments

Financial assets are classified into three principal categories:
measured at amortised cost, at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”).

An investment in equity securities, including listed and unlisted, is
measured at FVPL unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purpose and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes
an irrevocable election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or
FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income in accordance
with the policy set out note 2.22.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers are initially
measured in accordance with revenue recognition policy (note 2.21).
Derivative financial instrument is measured at FVPL (note 2.10).
All other recognised financial assets (including trade and other
receivables excluding prepayment and other tax receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits) of the Group are
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities, such as trade and other payables (note 2.15),
excluding other tax payables, dividends payable, borrowings (note
2.16), lease liabilities (note 2.24) and employee housing deposits, are
measured at amortised cost.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies information
(Continued)
2.9 Credit risk and impairment of financial assets

The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost, such as
trade and other receivables, are subject to the Group’s expected
credit loss (the “ECL”) model. While cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits and fixed deposits are also subject to the
impairment review, the identified loss allowance was immaterial. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk. Note 3.1(b) set out the details how
the Group determines whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk.

Financial assets measured at fair value, such as futures contracts, are
not subject to ECL assessment.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
to provide loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs for
its financial assets at initial recognition and through its life of the
asset. A provision matrix is determined based on historical overdue
pattern, shared risk characteristics, probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At each
reporting date the above parameters are updated.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

The following information is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o failure to make payments on their contractually due dates;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial
asset’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial,
market or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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Summary of material accounting policies information
(Continued)

2.9

2.10

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Credit risk and impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment
of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is
performed on a collective basis, the financial assets are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credlit risk ratings.

Any change in the expected credit loss amount is recognised as an
impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss in profit or loss.

The gross carrying amount of financial assets (and the related
impairment allowances) is normally written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This

is generally the case when the asset becomes 365 days past due or
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are
recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.

For other receivables, the Group recognises a loss allowance equal
to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments, such as futures, are recognised
at fair value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value is
remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, except where the derivatives
qualify for hedging accounting, in which case recognition of any
resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being
hedged.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies information

(Continued)

2.11 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of
finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based
on normal operating capacity). Net realisable value of inventories is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.12 Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment

of that consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest

method less loss allowance (note 2.9).

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amount of cash which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, with original maturity of three

months or less.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs, directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity

as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.15 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Trade and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment
is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective interest

method.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies information

(Continued)

74

2.16

2.17

2.18

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Certain borrowings are classified as current liability unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of reporting period in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries operate and generates taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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Summary of material accounting policies information

(Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred tax (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax
asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. Deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is also
provided on temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.
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Summary of material accounting policies information

(Continued)

2.19 Employee benefits

(a

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Short-term employee benefits and pension
obligations

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

The Group sponsors various defined contribution plans for
its employees in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
These plans are organised by the relevant municipal and
provincial governments based on certain percentage of the
relevant employees’ monthly salaries. The municipal and
provincial governments undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations payable to all existing and future retired
employees under these plans and the Group has no further
constructive obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions made.

The Group has also sponsored a defined contribution scheme
which is managed by an approved trustee registered under
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the “MPF
Ordinance”) for its employees in Hong Kong. Both the Group
and its employees in Hong Kong are required to contribute
a maximum of 5% of each individual’s relevant income or a
limited amount as prescribed by the MPF Ordinance. The
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
Group and independently administered.

Contributions made to the above respective defined
contribution pension plans are expenses as incurred. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in future payment is available.

There is no forfeited contributions that may be used by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contribution.
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Summary of material accounting policies information

(Continued)

2.19 Employee benefitsContinueq)

(b)

(c)

Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and
a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. Liabilities of
bonus plan are expected to be settled within twelve months
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when
they are settled.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
over the vesting period is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of
any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability
and sales growth targets) and including that of non-vesting
conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are expected
to vest. At the reporting date, the entity revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to vest. It
recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates,
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value)
and share premium when the options are exercised.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies information

(Continued)

78

2.20

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

RENBRMIERAIRAR

2

EREHBRENEE (@

2.20

ey

EAEERBEEHMMARE £
RENEAEREEET LA
FERAMKARNBLERE ME
BRTNEESD B SR SR GHE SR
o R E BB FIHED -

HAEZHMACSEHIER A
BEEEEMBEUEERT
EFEREHRERME - BIEE
— SR EERERN—EERER
MEBEIEM RS G HETE
o

BHREEABTEERNERX
WIRES S st HILEREMER
BYTR Al RA IR R AES0 e PR3 & S By
BEERZETHANARNT
Bt - AR SR EE TR
MEMERE AT %



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

ol

2 Summary of material accounting policies information

(Continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue from sale of upstream products and fermented and
downstream products is recognised when goods are delivered
to the customers, which is taken to be the point in time when
the Group transfers control over the products to the customers.
Revenue excludes value added taxes or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of sales return, if any. The Group does not expect to have
any contract where the period between the transfer of goods to the
customer and the payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
result, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the

time value of money.

The Group does not expect to have any contract asset which
represents the Group’s rights to consideration in exchange of goods
that delivered to the customer is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a
receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the
point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only the

passage of time is required before payment is due.

Advances from customers are contract liabilities which represent the
Group’s obligation to render goods to customer for which the Group

has received consideration from the customers.

The Group also does not expect to have any incremental cost
to obtain a contract with a customer. Costs that will be incurred
regardless of whether the contract is obtained are expensed as they

incurred.

2.22 Dividend income

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the

shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.
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2 Summary of material accounting policies information

(Continued)

2.23 Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
When a loan and receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated
future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the
instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired loan and receivables are recognised

using the original effective interest rate.

2.24 Leases

A lessee is required to recognise almost all leases on the statement of
financial position which will reflect their “right-of-use” for a period of

time and their associated liability for payments.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis. Lease liabilities are measured at the present

value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less

any lease incentives receivables

° variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate

o amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees

o the exercise price of purchase option if it is reasonably certain

to exercise that option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease reflecting the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined, or the Group’s

incremental borrowing rate.

§(0  CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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2 Summary of material accounting policies information 2 EAGHBRENBRE &
(Continued)

2.24 Leases (Continued) 224 FHE #)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: FEREEENRASTE2BFENT
RIF .

o the amount of initial measurement of lease liabilities o HEaBENYLHES

b
. any lease payment made at or before the commencement . MR B %E B BB St 2 A PR 1F
date less any lease incentives received NAERBEECR RES

WEBEREEES

. any initial direct costs, and o FEAMBEZERE &
. restoration costs. . BIE M-
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance FEEENRNREERRENE
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease Bo -MERANREEHBE
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the BmPilkk UG ELESHEEa
remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use BREREERNEEEHARZ 8
asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the AREENREE AFHERN
lease term on a straight-line basis. FHRNEEERREGETE-
There are recognition exemptions for short-term leases and leases of MAAHEREEEEERER
low-value items. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 BN R AR ERIER
months or less at the commencement date. Low-value items included HERAFHRA12@A 112
IT-equipment and small items of office furniture. Payments associated BENHEE - KEEEEGREE
with short-term leases and leases of low value items are recognised SRR B R /N LA R ML o £
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. PR EREEEEEHESRH
N E S ERER PR A
Bz
2.25 Government grants 2.25 BUFHED
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where BN ] S B REBER T U E
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and HEhRAEERRTEFEM SR
the Group will comply with all attached conditions. TR REQAFEES -
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in B ABRNBATHEE S FIR
profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs 3E > N TE A 5% 1 B B X A Bh R A
that they are intended to compensate. B2 A HMENER 18
m AR o
Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are B R e 5% 1 A BR B LR
included in non-current liabilities as deferred income and are credited HENEt AFERB B EIEREIEIR
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the A MR EAEBEENTES FHRA
related assets. BBEGESt ABE -
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Summary of material accounting policies information
(Continued)

2.26

2.27

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Research and development expenditure

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs
incurred on development projects (relating to the design and testing
of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets
when all of the following criteria are fulfilled:

(@) it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

(b) management intends to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

(c) there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(d) it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will generate

probable future economic benefits;

(e) adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete
the development and to use or sell the intangible asset are
available; and

(4] the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its

development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period. Capitalised development costs are recorded as
intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is
ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life, not exceeding
five years.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE_ZT

3

=F+ZR=+t—HIEHFE

Financial instruments

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

(a) Market risk

@

Foreign exchange risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions
denominated in foreign currencies, hence, exposures
to exchange rate fluctuations arise. Approximately
6.3% (2022: 3.5%) of the Group’s sales are
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the entities of the Group.

The operating subsidiaries of the Group mainly
operate in the PRC with most of the transactions
denominated in RMB. In addition, most of the
Group'’s liabilities are denominated in RMB. Therefore,
the management considers the Group is not exposed
to significant foreign exchange risk.

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rate.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

3.1

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(a

(i)

(i)

Corn kernel price risk

Corn kernels are the major raw materials of the
Group and they are subject to price changes in
the commodity market. During the year, the Group
did not use any commodity futures to control the
exposure of the Group to price fluctuations of corn
kernel. The Group will consider the production
schedule and make bulk purchases from spot market
when the market price of corn kernel is considered as
low.

Cornstarch price risk

Cornstarch is one of the major products of the
Group and it is subject to price changes in the
commodity market. A cornstarch manufacturer, as
a seller, holding a put position of cornstarch futures
contract would not make any profit if the cornstarch
market is prosperity. In other words, short-selling
cornstarch futures during the price-up period would
unnecessarily increase the exposure of price risk.
The management would use futures to control the
exposure of price risk when the market is extreme
volatile or in recession.
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3

Financial instruments (Continuea)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (Continued)

(iv) Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
ad hoc short term borrowings or discount on bank
acceptance bills carried at variable rates, which
exposes the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The Group’s fixed rate borrowings expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk. The management
considers the fair value interest rate risk is
insignificant as most of the fixed rate borrowings is
less than 12 months.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables and pledged bank deposits included in the
consolidated statement of financial position which represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
its financial assets. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

To manage the risk arising from bank deposits, which
included pledged bank deposits, the Group only transacts
with reputable banks which are high-credit-quality financial
institutions. There has no recent history of default in relation
to these financial institutions. The credit risk on bank
acceptance bills is monitored closely by the management
who will assess the reputation of the customer’s issuing bank
and the risk of recoverability. The ECL on all bank deposits
and bank acceptance bills is close to zero.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

3.1

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has credit policy to monitor
the credit risk. In general, the credit record and credit period
for each customer are regularly assessed, based on the
customer’s financial condition, historical payment record and
other factors such as current market condition and forward-
looking information.

For other receivables, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The Group has
assessed whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the
loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.
The management believes that there is no material credit
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balances of other
receivables and the ECL is close to zero.

The Group applies the simplified approach, which permits the
use of the lifetime ECL provision for all trade receivables from
third parties and related parties.

The Group categories trade or other receivables for write
off when a customer or debtor fails to make contractual
payments. Where trade or other receivables have been
written off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement
activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where
recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.
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3 Financial instruments (Continued) 3 EMIT A #E
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 HMBEKERZR @)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b)) GERE #E)
The following tables provide information about the Group's TREHEERAEER
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at ZEI=FERIZEZC

31 December 2023 and 2022: F+ZA=+—H#E

ZREETEHENEER
B FAREERRER

Gross

Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHARSIEEE =R IRE4E EEiER A
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBFTT AR®BTT

2023 —EZ=HF
Current (not past due) BOHA (GRiaHA) ~ 0% 136,789 -
1 - 60 days past due mH—Z=/x1+H 0.50% 3 -
61 — 90 days past due AR+ —EN+H 1.50% - -
More than 365 days past due BHBB="/TEH 100.00% 5 -
136,797 -

Gross

Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHEARSIELE X IRE4RE Sistedic
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARBTT

2022 B F
Current (not past due) BPER (RiEHR) ~ 0% 145,594 -
1 - 60 days past due BH—Z=+H 0.50% - -
61 — 90 days past due BHA+—Zhn+H 1.50% - -
More than 365 days past due BHBB =" 1THH 100.00% - -
145,594 -

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience TEHES BRI IRE B

over the past two years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over

TMENBRBELER
SHEGH - ZFLEEEE
HEEE > DR RIREBE
HE IR EER T B

the expected lives of the receivables. Bl AR 0 B2 7K &5 B P 58 42
W B FEEARN
KERREPHER

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in w8 5 & H th fE W R M

respect of the trade and other receivables, with exposures
spread over a number of debtors and customers.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

3.1

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. In addition, the Group also maintains sufficient
banking facilities to meet its future payment requirements.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the reporting dates to the contractual maturity dates.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payment
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

EWMTIA &

31  HMEA
(c)

BERER (@)
HBEZ A
FEHSFHEE KR
ERREEFEMRETE
EEERRITEHIKTF
URAEERNKERE
RBEREREREE
FE oI RERIRE
FRANERITEERN
FRIRAS RS ©

TERA/FTERTRERE
BREMERMEAEDED
D PRI ERHREH
HESNIH B ER
BB TREENZES
SHNRMRAESRE (B
EBEBEAFERE 5
FEIRE) RIS HARE
BVERA R ERR B AT
) KA EE A SER E R

BERHNRFEHE:
Carrying
Within Between Between amount
1 year 1-2years 2-5years Total liabilities
—EMA —FEERE REELE st FEE&R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTR AREBFR AREBTR ARETR
2023 —%Z=

Trade and other payables B REMER T 419,368 - - 419,368 419,368
Borrowings B 564,344 - - 564,344 559,365
Employee housing deposits & L EEREE 23,864 - - 23,864 23,864
1,007,576 - - 1,007,576 1,002,597
Carrying
Within Between Between amount
1 year 1-2 years 2 -5 years Total liabilities
—ENR —FEMF MEERE 35t FEESE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AEETR AREFR ARETR NG

2022 “ECTE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMER 356,685 - - 356,685 356,685
Borrowings B 286,419 - - 286,419 285,925
Dividends payable B SE 27,307 27,307 27,307
Employee housing deposits ELEERZES 23,864 - - 23,864 23,864
694,275 - - 694,275 693,781

RENBRMIERAIRAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

3 Financial instruments (Continuea)

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividend paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce the cost
of capital. The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is determined by total borrowings
to total assets of the Group. During 2023, the Group’s capital
management strategy, which was unchanged from prior year, was to
maintain a healthy gearing ratio in order to cope with working capital
requirement and unexpected change in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

externally imposed capital requirement.

3

TWMIA @&

3.2

BEHRER

FEREEREANBERBRER
EEAIFERQENET UBR
REHOKRT SEMEDRTA
ARMFm - BT HESHEEE
rRE AEEAEREORR
XUNREEHR - PARRROA
BRI HERE S FEL
HEEE A - A EBRIERAR
EREREREE - ARLEERR
REENERBIEFUEERE
EE-R_Z_=F KA&EEZ
BEAEERBRERRENER
S UEHEEESSFTREE
EAR AR LB > A RS A
EEER -

FREHEEAMBBAREBEA
BTERIIEEREREZR

2023 2022

—E-=F ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Total borrowings 4B %R 559,365 285,925
Total assets EEME 5,352,626 5,105,848
Gearing ratio B =R 10.5% 5.6%

3.3  Financial value measurement 3.3 HMBEEHE

Fair value measurements are categorised into three different levels
based on the degree to which the inputs used to arrive at the fair
value of the assets and liabilities are observable and unobservable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its

entirety, as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets (for example: the Stock Exchange or other
recognised commodity market) for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date. The prices of futures
quoted in a recognised commodity market are example of

Level 1 inputs.

- Level 2 inputs are those, other than quoted prices included in
Level 1 that are observable either directly or indirectly.

ATEFBREBEEREEKREE
AT EPMRANBAREES
RREBREERATENE
NMASBEEERNEZ N
BR=ETRRR W

- FE—RBABESER

HEEREERFERN
PERRT S (U0 © BT
HEMARBERTEH) B
HE CREFE) AR
AT ENHERER
B IRBAEE-

- BE_RBAREBESTE

B AB—HRHREDN
ERNBEERENG
AR -
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Financial instruments (Continued)

3.3

Financial value measurement (Continued)

- Level 3 inputs are not observable market data including
the latest financial information and estimates based on
assumptions.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of the
reporting period.

There is no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Valuation on inventories

The Group carries out an inventory review on a product-by-product
basis at the end of the reporting period and makes allowance for
obsolete and slow-moving items. The management estimates the
net realisable value for such finished goods, work-in-progress and
raw materials primarily on the estimated future selling price and
market conditions. Where the estimates of the net realisable value
are less than expected, a material allowance may arise. The Group
reassesses these estimates regularly. At 31 December 2023, the
carrying amount of inventories were RMB730,676,000, net of
impairment loss of RMB15,506,000 which is recognised in profit or
loss.

RENBRMIERAIRAR

3

4

EWMTIA &

3.3 WMBEEFE @
BE=RBARERERE
B BERN RERR
RGN AERED
HHE -

PR BEMEERPHREUAR
TFEBRINEEREEMS £
EEBBRREAREM TGS
2 EREATESBEEMS
BERNSERR @ AR
HEARASHR2BERELER
%o

REFEER E—HR F-RE
BoRZELREEBE -

EXGsHE s RAER

i 5t R @I E T 5> BRFOBE

EBRAGAZ QEEAMBRTER

REHHARIER-

NEEHRRIELE TETRMBR FIE
NEsHEst i EE S i/ SRR ER
GERAB T RENT —EMBEE
NHEEREBERAEFEERAFAEZ
E KRB E T R R

(@) F&MHE
FEREREREPRBAE
BRERNEE SRERFHER
BEH@ER BEEEIERE
HEHNRREEBNTIHBERMG
ARERER ERAKREM
FI ] IR 3 E - W ] # IR %
EfEsHDRTER AIERFLE

KER - AEBEHEMTEZ
EHE R =F+=A8
=t—RB FEREESARE
730,676,0007¢ > HFRAMEBEA
F#15,506,00070 » HR B W
HESD e
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4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Useful lives and estimated impairment of property,
plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of technical
innovations and competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management will adjust the depreciation charge where useful
lives are different to that of previously estimated, or it will write-off
or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold.

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of property,
plant and equipment is estimated using the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposals and its value-in-use. If the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment exceeds its recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recognised to reduce the asset to its recoverable
amount. Such impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade receivables
by assessing the ECLs. This requires the use of estimates and
judgements. ECLs are based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the end of reporting period. Where the estimation is
different from the original estimate, such difference will affect the
carrying amounts of trade receivables and thus the impairment loss
in the period in which such estimate is changed. The Group keeps
assessing the expected credit loss of trade receivables during their
expected lives.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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92

Revenue and segment information
The Group’s operating segments are as follows:

Upstream products — the manufacture and sale of cornstarch
and ancillary corn-refined products

Fermented and — the manufacture and sale of lysine,
downstream products starch-based sweetener, modified starch
and other products

The operating segments are identified in accordance with the economic
similarity and distinction of our products. For the purpose of assessing
segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the chief
operating decision-maker assesses and monitors the segment revenues,
margins and results attributable to each reportable segment. Inter-segment
sales or provision of materials to other segments is not measured.

Interest income and expense are not included in the result for each operating
segment as these are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to
reportable segments.

Unallocated income and expenses mainly consist of certain government
grants and corporate costs respectively which cannot be allocated to
individual segments.

Sales between segments are charged at cost or with reference to the selling
prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing market
prices. The revenue from external parties reported to the management is
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED PR ZEREREAE

WA RS EBE
FEBMOEEHBMT

EEER - EERBEEREREY
BEREIMIEIER

BEEER - EERHEBRDAE-
TFER A HE S B K
HithE R

REDMDHIRBEERELE LNBAUR
TRZEHA - 25HE D BRI 0 &
BORER TEEERRAGTERE
RE P2/ EP/IGRID BUA R K
EiF DB REIHE A E D B Gt
WHEABEER-

FEWAKRFAX BN UEBEEERE I
ROMEFIREDE > WA EFARZKLE
DEBEMER o

ROBEBAKRMEZ DA ERZEIERED
=@ R D B80S F BT B K b 2 58
o

DEHEHEENERARNSERE = 5H
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

5 Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WARDEER (&

Fermented

and

Upstream downstream
products products Unallocated Total

BEER

EiER TiEm R =k

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AER%¥Tr ARBTT AR®BTRT

2023 —E-=

Sales to external customers BN RE R IHE 8,596,863 3,200,671 - 11,797,534
Inter-segment sales 7 EB R 1,603,673 - - 1,603,673
Reportable segment profit/(loss) AERE DA, (58) (85,406) 263,393 - 177,987
Unallocated income ERBEUA 39,452
Unallocated expenses Epalivi b (59,969)
Finance income G ON 24,120
Finance expenses i & A (4,757)
Profit before income tax FREF1SR IS 176,833
Other segment information: HithnatER -

Depreciation TE 93,717 106,277 77,358 277,352
Write-down of inventories FEMR 15,506 - - 15,506
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5
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Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WARSEER (&
Fermented
and
Upstream  downstream
products products Unallocated Total
BEKR
ERES T E G i &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AREBTT AREBTT ARBTET
2022 —F°
Sales to external customers AN REFIHE 8,705,998 3,242,854 - 11,948,852
Inter-segment sales DEPREHE 1,485,860 - - 1,485,860
Reportable segment profit AIERE D EFE 230,169 396,677 - 626,846
Unallocated income KA A 45,065
Unallocated expenses RO (64,585)
Finance income MEUA 18,264
Finance expenses MEE A (4,474)
Profit before income tax BREAS IR AIFE 621,116
Other segment information: Hitho &R -
Depreciation e 106,948 99,072 78,784 284,804

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, all sources of revenue
are recognised at a point in time.

The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph 121(a) of HKFRS 15
to exempt the disclosure of revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at the end of reporting
period as the performance obligation is part of a contract that has an original
expected duration of one year or less.

Based on the place of the operation of external customers, revenue
attributed to the PRC and other countries is RMB10,856,939,000 and
RMB940,595,000 (2022: RMB11,493,571,000 and RMB455,281,000)
respectively.

The Group’s assets, liabilities and capital expenditures are predominately
attributable to a single geographical region, which is the PRC. Therefore, no
analysis by geographical regions is presented.

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED PR ZEREREAE

RBE_S_=F/K_FT__F+_4H
=+—BLEFE B UWRARIRR —EE
I BhFE ST o

FEHEEASBMBREERNFE 169
F121()BRFIIEHNTTERE DL S8R
RERABNREMREFENETRE]
Yz ERFTESE BRBAR R RRERH
WA RARZBNEERRBERENRD
—FHUTHEHH—ED -

RBEIREEFEEMMTHM  FE K
HMBERELENBARNAARKE
10,856,939,0007T & A E 940,595,000
T (T2 2F AR11,493,571,00075
B AR #455,281,0007T) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

6 Other net income 6 HB A

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREBTT

Amortisation of government grants (note 26) BT Bh Ay 8 (M 5226) 80,371 81,766
Gain on sale of scrap material SHERER 2 W am 20,506 21,841
Gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment H €& ¥ 2 « i = K 5% #5 RO % 1,644 9,403
Written off of property, plant and equipment WEEYZE BB R (3,300) (208)
Net foreign exchange gain BE U s SR 2B 7,532 1,538
Government grants (note) B (5% 534 1,185
Gain on futures AEW = 12 601
Sewage treatment 5K BRI 1,993 2,875
Others Hih 3,822 837
113,114 119,838

Note: B 5E

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the government grants mainly
represented subsidies from the local governments for supporting businesses. The
government grants were granted at the discretion of the government and were not
recurring in nature. There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached
to the receipts of those subsidies.

BE_S-=HR-F-_F+-HF=+—
HIEFE BN#B T EEM A BN AZE
MR A& B - BT 81 5 BB EY 15
B UEBIFEEEE - ARZEMELE
MARBTHRERAMIAER-

—_—

7 Finance income 7 FEUA
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARETFTT
Interest income on MTFEENFEWA
- Bank deposits —IRITER 23,703 18,095
— Undue bank acceptance bills —REFRTRRRE 417 169
24,120 18,264
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZ-Z_=F+_F=+—HILFE
8 Finance expenses 8 MEER
2023 2022
—E== - —
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARBFT
Interest on TFEENHE

- Borrowings — &= 4,480 3,395

- Discounted bills receivables —ERALIREE 277 1,075

— Lease liabilities (note 24) —HEaE& (EEe4) - 4

4,757 4,474
9 Profit before income tax 9 FREFISMAIFE
The major expenses of the Group are as follows: AEENFERZWOT :
2023 2022
—E-=F - ——
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF ARBFT
Cost of inventories (note 19) EFEERA (fi5E19) 10,044,812 10,555,375
Salaries, wages and other benefits e - ITEREMER 250,463 251,116
Pension scheme contributions B EEIHR 16,658 15,063
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M2~ BB s BT E (MP5E16)

(note 16) 266,982 273,929
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 17) EREEEITE (E17) 10,370 10,875
Research expenses (note) zEA (s 160,490 324,108
Auditor’s remuneration 1% BB #r B

— Audit service — B 2R 1,069 1,054

— Non-audit service —IEBE LIRS 212 195
Note: ST -

Research expenses include cost of inventories, staff costs and depreciation, which
are included in the above respective expenses, in the Research and Development

Department of the Group.

96  CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

10

Benefits and interests of directors 10 EFHNEMKRER
Details of directors’ emoluments of the Company are set out below: RABIEENFHIFBEHRINWT :
Pension
scheme
Fees Salaries contributions Total
ik e RAEHIMR &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®ETFR ARBEFT ARBFT
2023 —EC=
Executive directors: HTEE:
Mr. Tian Qixiang HE#EE - 480 - 480
Mr. Gao Shijun BttELE - 450 97 547
Mr. Liu Xianggang AREEE - 410 - 410
Mr. Yu Yingquan FRREEE - 410 - 410
Independent non-executive directors: BIFRTES:
Professor Hua Qiang TERHIR 50 - - 50
Mr. Sun Mingdao RS RYE 50 - - 50
Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken REERE 99 - - 99
Total &t 199 1,750 97 2,046
2022 oS-
Executive directors: HTES !
Mr. Tian Qixiang HERLE - 480 - 480
Mr. Gao Shijun BHELE - 450 92 542
Mr. Liu Xianggang KEEE - 410 23 433
Mr. Yu Yingquan FHREE - 410 - 410
Independent non-executive directors: BiERITES .
Professor Hua Qiang TER#E 50 - - 50
Mr. Sun Mingdao BBEELE 50 - - 50
Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken REHELE 94 - - 94
Total &t 194 1,750 115 2,059
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the retirement benefits paid to BE_E_=F+_RA=+—HLEE"
Mr. Gao Shijun are related to his service as a director of the Company and its AEttELEZANERKRERN T EFE
subsidiaries. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the retirement benefits FEERRBRENBABESEE -BEZ
paid to Mr. Gao Shijun and Mr. Liu Xianggang were related to their services as Z__F+_A=+—HULEFEE @5t
a director of the Company and its subsidiaries. BRERIIRA ST EZMRRAKERTD
HBFEEEAAARENE QB ESEE
o
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11

12

98

Individuals with highest emoluments 11

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, four (2022:
three) were directors of the Company whose emoluments are reflected in
the analysis in note 10. The emoluments of the remaining one (2022: two)

individual was as follows:

REmAL

rEBIARSHATHR OR (ZF
TR I ZR)ATARNES  REM
ERWEHIOND 2T BT —% (°F
ZTF W) ARSI T

2023 2022

2= ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AE®EF T
Salaries e 960 1,477
Pension scheme contributions BT EIHR 16 27
976 1,504

The emoluments paid to the above individuals fell within the following bands:

BRUTRAAZ BTS2 Z S

Number of individuals

AT #E
2023 2022
—EZZ=HF =
Nil — HK$1,000,000 2% 1,000,000 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 £ 1,500,000 75 1 1
Income tax expense 12 FREMZH
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FT ARBFT
Current income tax BERPR R
- PRC Enterprises Income Tax (‘EIT”) —hE B EMRE
(T2 - 139,076
— Over-provision in prior years — B FEEBREEE (13,381) (5,156)
Deferred tax (note 23) FEIEFRIE (F45E23) 32,818 (8,236)
19,437 125,684

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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12

Income tax expense (Continued)

The Group’s major business is in the PRC. Under the law of the PRC on
EIT and its Implementation Regulation, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries
is 25% for both years, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is
recognised as high technology enterprise is entitled to enjoy a preferential EIT
rate of 15% (2022:15%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group entities’
profit neither arose in nor was derived from Hong Kong during both years.

Pursuant to the law of the PRC on EIT and its Implementation Regulation,
non-PRC resident enterprises are levied withholding tax at 10% (unless
reduced by tax treaties/arrangements) on dividends receivable from PRC
enterprises for profits earned since 1 January 2008. The Group adopted the
10% withholding tax rate for PRC withholding tax purposes during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
income tax as follows:

12

FRGIZH (@)

REBZ TZEBRPEET - REFE
EEMBREREBRMA > B E
RENWMEFEZIREITR25%  tERE
E—BERISSRMEENNELE
BRoN > ZABEIZEA16% (T2
16%) BB B REMSREK

HRAEENEENMEFEANLEE
EEELRNENAE KA EARSENE
TRIEL R -

RIBEPEIEEFSREREETAR > S
FHEERCERKFTRCXE-ZS
NEFE—FB—HEMMERABEELNRS
0% EHUTRID R (BRIEIR U
E/BHTTHBENRE) - RBEEZR
_ZHFRIBZZF+ZRA=+—HL
FE AEEDHRPREBINREMI0%B9
BN

AF E PSR S ] RS 8 Al F)F
HERWT :

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT AREFT
Profit before income tax FRETSM AT 176,833 621,116
Notional tax on profit before income tax at VRS RAT A BLUERREHE
applicable rates ZBERIE 40,763 154,237
Tax effects of THEENRBEE
— Expenses not deductible for tax purposes —AEHMRFEE 1,975 752
— Income not subject to tax —BAFHRIA (5) (192)
— Over-provision in prior years — B FEBERE (13,381) (5,156)
— Tax deduction in the PRC — R E R IE R % (10,204) (26,588)
- PRC dividend withholding tax (note 23(a)) —hERE EFEI0R (HI5E23(a) 289 2,631
19,437 125,684
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_Z—

=F+TR=t—HIEHFE

Earnings per share 13

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the owners of
the Company is based on the following data:

T RBER ABEFE
ANRBTIT)
BETEERINETIH (TR)

Profit attributable to owners of the Company
(RMB’000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue (thousands)

BRkE

KRB EANEEBREREFTHIZU
TEEEE

The basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 were the same because there was no dilutive potential
ordinary share.

Dividends 14

Dividends payable to shareholders attributable to the previous financial year,
approved and paid during the year:

2022 final dividend of HKO0.69 cents per share

(2021: HKO0.69 cents) (ZZEZ—% 1 0.697%1)

ZEZZFRARESR0.69E

2023 2022
—E-= T _F
107,959 352,009
5,990,605 5,994,132
HREE =GR FE-_"F+=
B=+—HLESEEHNERBRELHENE
EEER WERERAREERTER -
i<t

BEMBEERG REAFERRIET
THREMNRRRE

2023 2022
—E=HF —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF AREF T

38,133 34,882

Subsequent to 31 December 2023, the directors of Company proposed a
final dividend of HK0.69 cents (2022: HKO0.69 cents) per share, amounting to
HK$41,183,000 (2022: HK$41,360,000). The final dividend proposed after
the end of the reporting period is subject to approval by shareholders in the
forthcoming general meeting of the Company and has not been recognised
as a liability as at 31 December 2023.

RENBRMIERAIRAR

RIEZ=F+"A=+—H#%B 42
%%Lﬁﬁﬁ%%%%ﬁk&%%@ﬂ_
T 0.6978 1) > ©EE3E41,183,000
Bt (ZEIZ T4 41,360,000 7T) © i
ZEI=F+ZA=+—H RRESR
BEBREVKRBREBTRERAR
BIEEREAE LHER ASEE B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

15

Subsidiaries

15

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company has the following interests
in its subsidiaries. The kind of legal entity of these subsidiaries is limited
liability company. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated:

Name of company

A

Directly held:
BERE:

Sourcestar Worldwide Inc.

China Starch Group Limited
FERPERBRAT

Indirectly held:

BERE

Shandong Shouguang Juneng Golden
Corn Development Co., Ltd*
(“Golden Com”)

LRBENEAEEIRRERRAR
(£EX)

Shouguang Golden Far East Modified
Starch Company Limited*
BhEER2IERNERAR

Linging Deneng Golden Corn Bio Limited
EEEEETRENBRAT

Shouguang Golden Corn Biotechnology
Limited* (“Golden Corn Biotech”)
SREIREMHBERRA
(e TREMHE)

Shouguang Juneng Musashino
Biotechnology Co., Ltd*
(*Juneng Musashino”)

SEEREFENRRBRAT
(EERES)

Place of
incorporation
and business

M RAEE A

BVI, Hong Kong
HBEBREE BB

Hong Kong

)

PRC
$

PRC
$

PRC
$

PRC

]

PRC
$

* English transliteration is for identification only.

Note:

Principal activities

TEEH

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Manufacturing and sale of cornstarch, lysine and
related products

LERBEIRERN BERREWER

Research, development, manufacture, and sales of
modified starch, cornstarch, glucose, maltose, dextrin,
animal feed additives, food-grade enzymes, biobased
materials, and related products

e L ERHERIERN TRBH EER-

EHIE B BMERAIE 8RR
EYEEMREEEER

Manufacturing and sale of cornstarch, starch-based
sweetener and related products

FERBETRRN BOEREBER

Research, development, manufacture and sales of
starch, food additives, feeds, amion acids and related
products

PR L ERSHERN  RWAME 8 S EER
HEER

Research, development, production and sale of lactate
and other related products.

e FERHELREREMERER

The registered capital of Juneng Musashino is RMB10,000,000 and is not paid up at
the end of the reporting period. The contribution of the registered capital to Juneng
Musashino is subject to the successful selection and auction of the appropriate

production site.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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RZEZ_=HRZZE_"_F5+ZA
=t+—H> AABR THREWB AT
ARG ZEWB ARG LAEER]
RHERRB BRBEIBEIN FIFEZR
BRI A E B

Issued share

capital/registered Interest held

capital by the Group
BRTRE/HMES FEEMEEED
US$240 100%
240ETT

HK$1 100%
1T

RMB700,000,000 100%
A E#700,000,0007%

US$13,850,000 100%
13,850,000% 75

RMB200,000,000 91%
A E#200,000,0007%

RMB200,000,000 55%
A E#200,000,0007%

Note 75%
Lk

Y OEXGEREMRBER -

MysE

BEREREHFEMEER ARNE100,000,000
T RRERARERBE - RPERAE

BEEESMER AEHEERET 2EM
BEAHE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB ERERMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZ-Z_=F+_F=+—HILFE

15  Subsidiaries (Continued) 15

The following table lists out the information relating to Golden Corn Biotech,
the only subsidiary of the Group which has material non—controlling interest
(“NCI”). The summarised financial information presented below represents the
amounts before any inter-company elimination.

NCI percentage R R ER B DL
Current assets MENE E

Non-current assets ERBEE

Current liabilities ViE)=KE

Non-current liabilities JERBEE

Net assets BERE

Carrying amount of NCI JEERR G R R IREE
Revenue WA

Profit for the year REEFHE

Total comprehensive income REWmAREE

Profit allocated to NCI PDEEFERRKRRERNFE
Dividend declared to NCI SIRTIEERRRERNRS
Cash flows from operating activities REKLEEHNRERE
Cash flows from investing activities REREGFHNRERE
Cash flows from financing activities REREEHNRERE

MEBAE (&

TRV EEMEAEEE—ERERFE
Iepes i (RERRRED ) B A
Bl FOREMRRINER - LIT 25898
BERMEERS AEAREREHEA
LNkl

2023 2022
—EZ= —EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
45% 45%
826,107 406,375
1,427,882 1,163,969
(1,665,012) (1,116,544)
(56,595) (32,555)
532,382 421,245
239,572 189,560
2,345,527 2,526,085
114,262 300,487
114,262 300,487
51,418 135,219
(1,406) (96,206)
482,735 159,768
(693,172) (237,727)
286,528 57,240

1()2 CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED BRI AIRAT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B EREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZT_=F+_F=+—HIFE

16  Property, plant and equipment 16 YE -BERRZE
Plant and
equipment
Plant and Motor Other under
Buildings machinery vehicles machinery  construction Total
HERER
BF RBERHESR RE Hithi% 2 R st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTR AREBTE ARBTT ARETR ARETE

At 1 January 2022 RIE-"&—-HF—H
Cost A 886,767 2,324,307 33,046 44,683 180,181 3,468,984
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  EtFERAEE (221,272) (1,183,604 (25,344) (34,446) - (1,464,666)
Net book value RESE 665,495 1,140,703 7,702 10,237 180,181 2,004,318
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE_F-__F+-B=+—-H

LHEE
Net book value at 1 January 2022 RZE-_“&—-F—H

MEREFE 665,495 1,140,703 7,702 10,237 180,181 2,004,318
Additions HE - 2,929 3,803 1,893 153,566 162,191
Transfers upon completion SER R E R 58,565 184,814 - 438 (243,817) -
Disposals/written-off HE /88 (261) (224) - - - (485)
Depreciation charge for the year FENEER (47,940) (216,802 (4,088) (5,099) - (273,929)
Net book value at 31 December 2022 RIEZZH&+ZA=1+—H

HEREFE 675,859 1,111,420 7417 7,469 89,930 1,892,095

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 W_E-—#+_-HA=+—H
H

R-E-=fF—-B—
Cost B 944,655 2,499,488 33,767 45,843 89,930 3,613,683
Accumulated depreciation and impairment Rt EREE (268,796)  (1,388,068) (26,350) (38,374) - (1,721,588)
Net book value REFE 675,859 1,111,420 7,417 7,469 89,930 1,892,095
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_F_=f+”"B=t+—-H

LHEE
Net book value at 1 January 2023 RZIE-=5—-F—H

NEEEE 675,859 1,111,420 7417 7,469 89,930 1,892,095
Additions HE 4,729 6,955 8,930 2,114 521,265 543,993
Transfers upon completion SERR R E R 73,945 434,172 - 150 (508,267) -
Disposals/written-off HE /s ) (3,301) - - (3,300) (6,608)
Depreciation charge for the year EEREER (41,280) (216,744) (4,225) 4,733) - (266,982)
Net book value at 31 December 2023 RIBZ=F+ZA=1+—H

NIREFE 713,246 1,332,502 12,122 5,000 99,628 2,162,498
At 31 December 2023 RZZ_=£+-A=+—-H
Cost A 1,023,279 2,918,784 36,499 46,891 99,628 4,125,081
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  EFHTEREE (310,033) (1,586,282) (24,377) (41,891) - (1,962,583)
Net book value REFE 713,246 1,332,502 12,122 5,000 99,628 2,162,498
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aHPHERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZ-Z_=F+_F=+—HILFE

17  Right-of-use assets 17 (FRAEEE
The amount in respect of leases are as follows: ESZEWNT .
Land
use right Properties Total
Tt fE A LY st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AR®BTT AR®TT
Net book value at 1 January 2022 RIE-_F£—H—H
AR FE 446,660 507 447,167
Depreciation charge for the year FEITEER (10,368) (507) (10,875)
Net book value at 31 December 2022 W_ZE__#+_B=+—H
and 1 January 2023 rR_E_=F—HF—H
HEREFE 436,292 - 436,292
Depreciation charge for the year FEREER (10,370) - (10,370)
Net book value at 31 December 2023 RIE2EZ=%F+"B=+—H
HEREFE 425,922 - 425,922

The interests of land use right are located in the PRC.

104 CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B EREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

18

Equity investment

Financial asset at FVPL
— Unlisted equities

—JE LR iE

18

BATESABERZEHEE

RigiE
2023 2022
—EC= —ECICfF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARET T
21,954 9,995

In January 2022, the Group has provided the remaining capital contribution
of RMB8,000,000 to Tiangong Biotechnology (Tianjin) Limited (K Z4E#)
B (K2) ARAF) (“Tiangong”). Tiangong has registered capital of
RMB100,000,000, of which 10% is held by the Group. The principal activities
of Tiangong are to carry out research and development of corn derivatives
and transfer its research outcomes to market. The Group has neither control
nor significant influence over Tiangong.

In December 2022, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement
with a seller for the acquisition of registered capital of RMB6,000,000,
representing 2% of the paid-up registered capital, in JN Power for a
consideration of RMB11,280,000. The acquisition was completed in January
20283. The interest in JN Power was subsequently reduced to 1.79% as a
result of additional registered capital contributed by another investors. JN
Power is engaged into the generation, transmission and supply of electricity
and heat. JN Power is a supplier of electricity and steam to the production
facilities of the Group in Shouguang. The seller is an independent third party
not connected with the Group or a connected person (as defined under the
Listing Rules) of the Company. The Group has neither control nor significant
influence over JN power.

For fair value measurement of investments using level 3 value inputs,
fair value is determined using valuation techniques with reference to the
investment’s financial position, operating results and prospects, and by
reference to market multiples of other comparable companies. Movement of

A TECCF-RAEREEBRXRIAE
PR (KB BRAB (TRI)RHER
# tH & A K 158,000,000 © K T &t filt
BEARARH100,000,0007t ° EF10%
BAEEFAE R IMNTEXHRET
FORTTEV BI85 08 H BT FE Al R 1B
M35 o A B 3 R T30 A P R 7 i
BERTEN-

RIEZZHF+A AEEEEHES

RiEEEpE WEEEABFMES
AR 16,000,0007T ({8 Ug 5 & A
2%) » 1E#A AR #11,280,0007T Y i
RIEZ=F—HB5%mM -REAERBHE
mEEREMEEEBINETMER
MHIRZE1.79% BB BE IR
IHEE - BERBE BAEREALRE
EEAEERMNEB N RZSMEER &
FABUE=F BEAEERALFRE
AL (EER EHRA) BERE - AEE
HEEABURITHIRITBEEAZES

RRE—REETRFBEATENRE
HAFEMUGEERTEELE2ERE
BORA TR L ~ A A Ko A == DU LAt 7T
BIERABDNTHER  UE=REET

investments using level 3 value inputs is as follows: HRErENREEHUOT !

2023 2022

—E= —_EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBEF T
At 1 January ®—B—H 9,995 1,564
Purchases EE 11,280 8,000
Fair value gain on equity investment RAKEZ AFEWE 679 431
At 31 December W+=-B=+—H 21,954 9,995
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BB ERERMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZ-Z_=F+_F=+—HILFE

19

20

106 CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Inventories 19 =&
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AE®EF T
Raw materials B 413,078 613,025
Work in progress TS 24,242 21,059
Finished goods BUAY G 293,356 232,320
730,676 866,404
The amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in profit or BRAEZ L ABZNTFESEHT
loss is set out below: wr
2023 2022
—E-=F =S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETFT AR®TF T
Cost of sales FHE B A 9,918,807 10,292,223
Materials used in research activities T EEI P AR 110,499 263,152
Write-down of inventories FEMR 15,506 -
10,044,812 10,555,375
Trade and other receivables 20 EBZRHMEKRR
2023 2022
—EC=F =2
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#ETFT AEBF T
Trade receivables B 5 R 136,797 145,594
Bank acceptance bills BITARERE 266,487 239,531
Prepayments and other tax receivables FE{T IR E A E U R I8 149,336 195,490
Others Hith 11,077 8,935
563,697 589,550

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are mainly denominated
in RMB.

RENBRMIERAIRAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B EREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

20

Trade and other receivables (Continued) 20

The provision of loss allowance for trade receivables for both years 2023 and
2022 was nil.

The Group normally grants credit period ranging from 0 to 150 days (2022: 0

to 150 days) to customers.

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade receivables
based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance is as follows:

B 5 RHEMBEWR (&

TEBR B =FER_B - _F:1E8
SR EIEEE -

AEE-—BETEFNEEHN TSR
—BE+E (C2--F SE-HE+
SE

RRERFR BZRRRRFEEZHRAR
TG RBEFHEROREDTOT ¢

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
0 - 30 days FE2E=4H 127,923 134,162
31 - 60 days =+—Z~+H 7,479 5,391
61— 90 days N+t—ZEA+HE 123 1,022
Over 90 days N+HUE 1,272 5,019
136,797 145,594
At the end of the reporting period, the bank acceptance bills consist of: R|RERFX BITERBBEIE

2023 2022

—E-=F - ——
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
Bills on hand FHEERE 177,221 131,039
Endorsed bills HEER 70,681 48,792
Discounted bills ARIRELR 18,585 59,700
266,487 239,531

The bank acceptance bills are normally with maturity period of 180 days
(2022: 180 days). There is no recent history of default on bank acceptance
bills.

As at 31 December 2023, bank acceptance bills of RMB4,000,000
(2022: RMB7,530,000) and discounted bills of RMB18,585,000 (2022:
RMB59,700,000) were pledged to banks for securing bank borrowings.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB ERERMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZ-Z_=F+_F=+—HILFE

21 Pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents and 21
other cash flow information

(a) Pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents

BIERRTER - RERREEF
BEMREMRERER

EEFRTERRRERER
EEEY

2023 2022

2= -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AE®EF T
Pledged bank deposits BIRRIRITER 500,056 207,582

Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY

— Cash at bank and on hand —IRITRFHEEE 899,830 1,002,985
Total “ast 1,399,886 1,210,567

As at 31 December 2023, pledged bank deposits were provided to
banks for securing banking facilities. The interest rate of the pledged
bank deposit was 1.7%. As at 31 December 2022, pledged bank
deposits were provided to banks for securing banking facilities and
bills payables. The interest rate of the pledged bank deposit was
1.9%.

As at 31 December 2023, deposits of RMB1,397,227,000 (2022:
RMB1,203,386,000) were placed with banks in the PRC. Remittance
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

108 CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED BRI ARAT

AT =F+ZHA=+—8"
BEmRITIRHIERIRITER F
BIRITEENIRKIF - BIKIFRT
BROMEBIT% - R T
F+ZHB=+—H’B2RAiRTE
HIRFIRITER A BISIRTT
BEEREMZEEBENIEIT - BIKF
IRITERFIZEA1.9%

AT =F+ZHA=+—8"
AR #1,397,227,0007T (Z &
— % ANK11,208,386,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B EREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

21 Pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents and 21

other cash flow information (Continuea)

(b)

Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated

ERARITER - RERREF
BEMREMBEEREN (@)

(b) FRIRETFEERGEEENR

from operations EHHIR
2023 2022
== T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AREBTT
Profit before income tax FRETSM AT 176,833 621,116
Adjustments for: RAELITIER -
Finance income REUA (24,120) (18,264)
Finance expenses MEEM 4,757 4,474
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERZBITE
plant and equipment 266,982 273,929
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 10,370 10,875
Gain on disposals of property, HEWZE BE KRR BN =
plant and equipment (1,644) (9,403)
Loss on written off of property, W2 BB MR B EE
plant and equipment 3,300 208
Write-down of inventories EFEMUR 15,506 -
Amortisation of government grants B T 4 Bh B9 8 8 (80,371) (81,766)
Fair value gain on equity investment BAREENAFEWE (679) (431)
Foreign exchange gain on MEEHELENER NG
financing activities 93 1,416
Dividend income from equity investments  B& 3% E RIS B U A (94) -
Changes in working capital: EEBEEEE
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEERL, (HEm) 120,222 (264,090)
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 K H fth fE g =Rt b 25,853 4,807
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 K e ORI (48,816) (20,091)
Decrease in advances from customers BEBIURLD (29,676) (64,743)
Cash generated from operations REEENRE 438,516 458,037
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FET TS ER ZR MY BT

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H#E_Z_=F+_H=+—HILEE

21 Pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents and 21 CBigHETER - RERREE

other cash flow information (Continued) BYREMRERER #&)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities (c) RMEZBFFEEEENEIR
The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as MEGTHAMELEBNHEERN
follows: T

Employee

Lease housing

Borrowings liabilities deposits
BIRE

(EEN HEaE RiEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFRT ARBFRT ARBFR

At 1 January 2022 WZE=--%—H—H 111,176 438 23,741
Cash flows: RERE
Payment of lease liabilities HESENR - (438) -
Payment of interest on lease liabilities REABNEAR - (4) -
Proceeds of borrowings BRAER 309,188 - -
Repayment of borrowings BEEW (135,855) - -
Increase in employee housing deposits BTRERESEM - - 123
Other changes: Hithgs) .
Interest on lease liabilities HEAETE - 4 -
Exchange adjustments EREE 1,416 - -
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 HRZZE_-&+-ZHA=+—AK

—E”_=%-—H-—H 285,925 - 23,864
Cash flows: RERE :
Proceeds of borrowings (CENGIECEN 536,047 - -
Repayment of borrowings BEEN (262,700) - -
Other changes: Hithgsh :
Exchange adjustments fE R 93 - -
At 31 December 2023 WZE-_=5+_-R=+—H 559,365 - 23,864

11() CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED BRI ARAT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B EREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

21

22

Pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents and 21 EBiEHETER - RERREE
EBEYMREMRERER &

other cash flow information (Continuea)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise the

(d THERERHAEE

BB AR RBRNSEN

Share capital

Authorised:
Number of shares

following: T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARETT
Within operating cash flows RBERERERN 1,286 990
Within financing cash flows RREREREN - 442
1,286 1,432
These amounts related to the following: ZETRHEELTEEARR
2023 2022
—E”= .
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT
Expenses relating to short-term leases EREHRAENRX 1,286 1,432
1,286 1,432
22 g#&
2023 2022
—E= S
EE
V4=
K+=ZB=+—H 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000

At 31 December

The number of authorised share capital of the Company is comprised of
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.10 each.

PR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

aHPHERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZ-Z_=F+_F=+—HILFE

22  Share capital (Continued) 22 g (&
2023 2022
—E= B F
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
Number of shares Al e=]
At 1 January W—HA—H 5,994,132,043 5,994,132,043
Repurchase of shares FEEI RS (25,565,000) -
At 31 December w+ZHA=+—H 5,968,567,043 5,994,132,043
Equivalent nominal value of ordinary shares LEREREE ARETT
(RMB’000) 530,230 532,500
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company repurchased REEZE_=F+ZB=+—HIHF
25,565,000 shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate B > A2 B R B 22 P B [8125,565,0008% 75
consideration of HK$3,375,000. All of these shares repurchased by the NERAD > BB 43,375,000 7T ° AR
Company were cancelled prior to 31 December 2023 and the total number of BEENMMEZERMENR ZZ =
shares of the Company in issue has been reduced accordingly. Details of the +ZA=+—HAIEH XA BETR
share repurchases are set out as follows: RHBBAERER L o IRIPEIEE BN T ¢
Number of Aggregate
2023 shares Price per share price paid
—E= KRH&E SRES BfT4E
Highest Lowest
1= RIE
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
AT AT FHET
August NA 700,000 0.145 0.142 101
September LB 1,500,000 0.135 0.131 201
October +A 6,785,000 0.130 0.128 875
November +—A 8,570,000 0.139 0.130 1,148
December +—A 8,010,000 0.134 0.127 1,050
25,565,000 3,375

] 12 CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED BB ARAT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

23

Deferred taxation 23 IREMRIE
Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (a) ERENRIEREEEREA
&
The components and movement of deferred tax assets and liabilities RIERIBE E R B EWAERSHD
are as follows: REBHMT
Depreciation
Impairment allowances PRC
of property, in excess of dividend
plantand Government  therelated  Write-down withholding
equipment grants depreciation of inventories  Tax losses tax Total
B4Rk
EN:TS RER HERE
REEAE B HE RERE FEME )] i Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  ARETr ARETr ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
Deferred tax arising from: REUTEBRRERE
At 1 January 2022 RIZ-Z5-A-H 1,837 49,070 (56,554) - - (14,000 (19,647)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss (note 12) Bt A/ (NER) (H3E12) 747 10,345 (205) - - (2,631) 8,36
At 31 December 2022 and S
1 January 2023 +ZA=1+-8k
“E-=%-f-A 2,584 59,415 (56,779) - - (16,631) (11,411)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss (note 12) 1 #B33t A/ (1183)
(MzE12) 79 (21,040) (46,020) 3,876 29,876 (289) (32,818)
At 31 December 2023 RIZ-=%
+ZA=1+-H 3,363 38,375 (102,799) 3,876 29,876 (16,920) (44,229)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted off when the taxes relate
to the same tax authority and where offsetting is legally enforceable.
The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are
shown separately on the consolidated statement of financial position:

HRIES KRE—RBHHE > A1
R £ PToR fIHE S B o RARIERR
REERBEYEARKE &K
ERHEREEN T EEESH

MR R R P BB
2023 2022
== —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
Deferred tax assets RN IEE E 14,719 61,999
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEBE (58,948) (73,410)
(44,229) (11,411)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

aHPHERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZ-Z_=F+_F=+—HILFE

23

24

25

114

Deferred taxation (Continuead)

23 RIERIA (&

(b)  Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (b) KRESRHNIRIERIEAR
Deferred tax liabilities in respect of the PRC dividend withholding HR AR B EGEREME RS
tax relating to certain undistributed profits of the Company’s PRC IR BB M B E W
subsidiaries were not recognised as the Company controls the BABSETARD KA BEAERN
dividend policy of these subsidiaries. Based on the assessment FEREESENRERIELERIE
made by the management as at the end of the reporting period, it BE-RESEBNRREHERAN
was determined that the undistributed profits of RMB2,259,000,000 EHI T HR AR AT HE
(2022: RMB2,166,000,000) of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries BRI NRDIKAEARE
would not be distributed in the foreseeable future. 2,259,000,0007c (ZZ =24 A

Lease liabilities

R #2,166,000,00075) & i 7]
REREHD K

24 IHE&AE

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group does not have any material RZIEZ=FRZZEZZ_F+A
lease liabilities. =Et+—B rEETERARNEAEES
fEo
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss RiEHmAFMEREEEENEXZEE D
is as follows: anT
2023 2022
—E=HF - ——
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F ARBFT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) mEaEn s (M) - 4
Expense relating to short-term leases ERARHEENRS 1,286 976
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets ERREEEEEENMHAS - 14
Borrowings 25 fE®
The Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows: KERBGHRN THIEABEE :

(a) By year of repayment

(@) IHENRFRES

2023 2022
—EZ= -2
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARFT ARBTT
Bank borrowings RITHER
— Within one year ——FR 518,585 259,700
Other borrowings HhEmR
— Within one year ——FR 40,780 26,225
559,365 285,925

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B EREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

25 Borrowings (Continued) 25

(b) By secured and unsecured borrowings

& (&)

L

(b) REEAREKBERES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREF T

Secured AL 518,585 259,700
Unsecured L 40,780 26,225
559,365 285,925

The loan of RMB40,780,000 (2022: RMB23,225,000) (denominated in HK$)
was provided by Merry Boom Group Limited (the “Merry Boom”), a controlling
shareholder of the Company, and bore a one-month Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate. During the years ended 31 December 2023, interest expense of
approximately RMB1,340,000 (2022: RMB293,000) was paid to Merry Boom.

The effective interest rates of secured bank borrowings at the end of reporting
period ranged from 1.10% to 2.16% (2022: 1.15% to 2.2%).

AR 140,780,000t (ZZEZZF : AR
#523,225,0007T) WEM (L HEITsHE) A
IGEEBBRAT (MR (ERAFER
) R m—EAZEBRTEENR
BEHE - REE_B_=F+"_A=+—
BIEFE B0 ERZAB A
E#1,340,0007c (ZZE "% : ARH
293,0007T) ©

REBEHRNEIRIFRITENEEFR X
NF1.10%E2.16% (ZZEZ"F 1 1.15%
F2.2%) ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z—=&&% []5



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB ERERMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZ-Z_=F+_F=+—HILFE

26 Deferred income 26 REWA
2023 2022
=== - —
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FT ARBFT
At 1 January W—HA—H 244,722 259,411
Additions for the year FEIE N 400 67,077
Amortisation for the year (note 6) FEE#H (fisk6) (80,371) (81,766)
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 164,751 244,722
Deferred income mainly represents government grants or subsidies received FIEWMATBIERERGEEERMR
for the development of the production complex and storage facilities as well 75 15 5% 1 A Re B 92 18 B T BAS BY BUAT 48
as research projects. B HEAG o
27 Trade and other payables 27 BIKRHEMEMR
2023 2022
—E=F - ——
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARBFT
Trade payables ZRZ Y INEN 132,443 188,973
Bills payables NS 4,000 7,530
Total trade and bills payables B RN RIRERE 136,443 196,503
Payable for construction and equipment BEKRFERAR 177,975 64,653
Payroll and welfare payables G TER@EF 40,258 33,843
Accrued expenses FEETRSZ 27,307 31,949
Tender deposits KRIZREE 18,659 19,636
Other tax payables H e RIE 14,287 12,464
Sales commission THEME 2,995 3,140
Others H 15,731 6,961
433,655 369,149

116 CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B EREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

27

Trade and other payables (Continued) 27

As at 31 December 2023, bills payables are secured by bank acceptance bills
of RMB4,000,000 (2022:RMB7,530,000) (note 20).

The following is the ageing analysis for the trade and bills payables based on
invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

B REMBEMR (&

RIEZ=ZF+"A=+—H EBEEZE
MAR®4,000,0007c (ZEZZF 1 AR
¥57,5630,0007T) BYERIT AR R E R (Fi15E20)
YEHEIR

UTRBREMAREZEAREREN R
IRIREE R H R ERE D AT ¢

2023 2022
—g=-= —EC-C&

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AEB®ETIT

0 - 60 days =EX+H 107,164 163,355
61 - 90 days A+—EA+H 1,051 2,558
Over 90 days A+BUE 28,228 30,590
136,443 196,503

The average credit period on purchases is 80 days (2022: 80 days). The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are paid within the credit time frame.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are mainly denominated in
RMB.

BN TEEERRE (T2 22
80H) -~ EEHERIEMBEKREER
o URERPIBRNMN B BEENE
T2 fte

B REMECRORABEEUAR
Mk o

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z—=%%#% []7



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AW4 é AY

SR B ER R MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZ-Z_=F+_F=+—HILFE

28 Advances from customers
Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023 that was
included in advances from customers at the beginning of the year was
RMB204,010,000 (2022: RMB268,866,000).

29 Employee housing deposits
Employee housing deposits are carried at amortised cost.
The Group offers residential accommodation to the staff with the aim of
promoting long service with the Group. Staff are required to place housing
deposits to the Group for the use of such accommodation. The employee
housing deposits are interest-free, unsecured and repayable upon the return
of the staff quarters by the employee or termination of employment.

30 Commitments

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but not
recognised as liabilities is as follows:

Capital contribution HE
Property, plant and equipment ME--BEMEE

28

29

30

EREM

REEZZE_=F+ZB=+—HIF
Et AZFRANEHIWENFINS
AR#204,010,0007T (Z2ZZF 1 AR
#268,866,0007T) °

BTREMRES
BTRERESHMIMMATIR -
FEEASTREER SESBITHR
RIARBAERE B TERERERRNE
AnFERIERRES - BTRER
HEhel BEARKETREETHE
B BHERER

i

REFEFRFETOEREDFER
NEREARZNT !

2023 2022
= —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FT ARBFT
62,956 71,430
23,936 132,814
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B EREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

31

32

Share-based payment transactions

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was
adopted on 19 May 2017 for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards
to directors, employees and other eligible persons. The Share Option Scheme
will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing on the date on
which the Share Option Scheme is adopted. The maximum number of shares
which may be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the issued capital of the Company from time to time.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, no options have been granted under the
Share Option Scheme.
Related party transactions

Save for the disclosure in note 25, the related party transactions including
remuneration for key management personnel of the Group are as follows:

31

32

KRR 2 (S MRIBRI R 5

RABRZE—tFERB+NHIRMNE
RerestEl (TR TR - BNABE
E - EEREMEERATRSHE N
Eho FERRRESTEIS N BT EIRMZ A
st T FERER  RITEREERESE
e 7N BIIR A AT E h BE AR A St 21 Y
Fr B 4% 1B I8 55 17 165 B PR 4 17 =] AE 2%
THRMEE LR 5 R SBBEAAE
TR B EITRZARIZ0% ©

WZIEZ_=Z=FRZIEZ_F+A
=+—H BEREERETEER TN
FERRRE o

MEHTRS

BRICHISE26FT IR E SN BEAEETE
BEEBASHMOMELZZMT :

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AEB®ETIT

Short-term benefits 5EHREF 1,750 1,750
Pension scheme contributions BIAREEEIHER 97 115
1,847 1,865
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BB ERERMNEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZ-Z_=F+_F=+—HILFE

33 Statement of financial position of the Company 33 ERAFMBBIKAR
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREFT
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RTBRATNKE 159,378 159,378
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN NI 534,723 518,097
Prepayments AR 383 383
Cash and cash equivalents ReERIREEEY 2,265 6,198
537,371 524,678
Total assets BEEHEE 696,749 684,056
EQUITY ey
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZxAF#H A B
Share capital [IZiN 530,230 532,500
Reserves (note) EE (s 125,739 128,331
Total equity ReR4aEE 655,969 660,831
LIABILITY =R E
Current and total liability B KRB EETE
Borrowings EEN 40,780 23,225
Total equity and liability ERKkAaREE 696,749 684,056
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B EREMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #H#Z-ZE_=F+_F=+—HIEFE

33 Statement of financial position of the Company 33 ZHRAFMBBRAR &
(Continued)
Note  Movement of the reserves of the Company e AREEEED
Special Capital Retained
reserve reserve profit Total
FRfRE B REFIE Feh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT ARBT ARBTT

At 1 January 2022 WZE--&-F—H 108,651 16,730 7,188 132,569
Profit for the year AEEFE - - 30,644 30,644
2021 final dividend —EC-EEHRE - - (34,882) (34,882)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R_Z__&+_-A=+—H
—H

R-B-=F—F8 108,651 16,730 2,950 128,331
Repurchase of shares &1 Bl - - (817) (817)
Profit for the year REERH - - 36,358 36,358
2022 final dividend “E-CERBARE - - (38,133) (38,133)
At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=&+ZA=+—H 108,651 16,730 358 125,739
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Five-Year Financial Summary

LFEPHHE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

ZZZ=fF Z%CZC B BC-EE _"E-NE

Operating results e
(RMB’000) (AR%F )
Revenue WA 11,797,534 11,948,852 11,639,315 8,892,261 6,750,401
Gross profit 5 556,572 1,190,475 952,211 559,775 353,004
Operating profits EE=Filb 157,470 607,326 510,539 261,500 105,392
Profit for the year AEEFE 157,396 495,432 402,830 207,039 98,096
Profit attributable to shareholders P& 5 FE(LFI R 107,959 352,009 345,597 190,120 96,847
Assets and Liabilities BEERAR
(RMB’000) (N5 o)

Total assets wEE 5,352,626 5,105,848 4,719,159 4,567,492 4,424.974
Total liabilities waR 1,416,073 1,284,065 1,227,137 1,433,359 1,463,827
Non-controlling interests FERRRER 274,724 226,693 214,059 156,826 139,907
Shareholder’s equity R 3,661,829 3,595,090 3,277,963 2,977,307 2,821,240
Per share data BERYE
Net assets per share (RMB) SRIEE ARED) 0.66 0.64 0.58 0.52 0.49
Earnings per share (RMB cents) SREN ARED) 1.80 5.87 5.77 3.17 1.62
Dividends per share (HK$ cents) SRES (B 0.69 0.69 0.69 0.90 0.62
Dividend payout ratio RELLE 34.7% 10.5% 9.8% 23.9% 34.3%
Share price as at the year ended (HK$) FERRE (B 0.136 0.225 0.212 0.156 0.143
Note: MiEE -

The above summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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